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1. Chair and Chief Officer’s Foreword
It has now been two years 
since authorisation, when 
NHS Leeds North Clinical 
Commissioning Group 
(Leeds North CCG) became a 
statutory NHS body. It’s been 
an incredibly busy period 
filled with challenge and 
achievement. We recently 
took a brief pause to reflect 
on some of our achievements 
during the celebration of our 
2nd birthday, here on the site 
we occupy at Leafield House, 
in the heart of our community. 

Leafield House is the perfect 
location for a CCG which prides 
itself on putting clinicians and 
patients at the centre of everything 
we do. The former clinic is 
located within the community of 
Moortown in north Leeds and has 
been known and used as a health 
centre by clinicians and the local 
community for generations. 

This connection with community 
is key to us. Clearly we will only 
deliver the high quality and efficient 
health and care services that people 
demand if we have understood 
people’s needs. This, in part, can 
be understood by monitoring 
performance and statistical data, 
but we would achieve little without 
understanding and learning from 
what people have to say about 
their experience of receiving care 
and their ideas for improvement. 
This is why we prioritise our efforts 
to engage the public and to ensure 
that we are always an organisation 
that listens and learns from what 
you have to tell us, whether it’s 
through the voices on our patient 
assurance group, our public 
Board meetings or our ongoing 
programme of public consultation, 
engagement and discussion across 
a range of topics. 

Nigel Gray, Chief Officer

Jason Broch, Chair
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Since becoming a statutory NHS 
body two years ago, the CCG 
has succeeded in strengthening 
its robust foundation of clinical 
leadership. The CCG prides itself 
on being unique in Leeds because 
it has a “Council of Members” 
as its core decision-making 
body. The Council is made up of 
representatives (including GPs, 
Practice Managers and Practice 
Nurses) from each of its 28 member 
GP practices. It meets every two 
months so that practices can 
discuss and agree how to tackle 
health issues affecting their local 
patients and communities.

The Council has control of the 
strategic direction of the CCG, 
which is delivered through formal 
delegation to our Board which, 
along with lay members, also 
has a strong mix of healthcare 
professionals from general practice, 
nursing and a secondary care 
consultant.

Working with our clinical members 
and leadership team, we are 
proud of the successes we have 
witnessed in the past year. We 
are also pleased with the working 
relationships we have continued 
to establish with various partners 
in the City. Without a partnership 
approach, our ambitious targets for 
the improvement of the health and 
wellbeing for people in north Leeds 
would not be possible, particularly 
given the challenge of increasingly 
stretched resources. 

Through these partnerships with 
our clinical members, healthcare 
providers, the local authority 
and fellow CCGs we have made 
real advances and innovations in 
primary care for the population of 
north Leeds, and also in improving 
services across the city.

By working more closely with 
Leeds City Council, and integrating 
elements of health and social care 
commissioning and provision, 
we have been able to improve 
efficiency and drive up the quality 
of care. By being more efficient 
we can make savings to invest 
in alternative projects that will 
focus on preventing poor health, 
intervening earlier and supporting 
patients at home and in the 
community. Too often patients end 
up in hospital when they would 
be better treated in a community 
setting or could have avoided 
becoming ill by early intervention 
or better self-management. 
Avoiding hospital admissions and 
improving care closer to home 
are among our objectives that we 
hope to achieve through continued 
partnership working with the local 
authority, healthcare providers and 
the voluntary, community and 
faith sector.“ The CCG prides itself  

on being unique in Leeds 
because it has a “Council 
of Members” as its core 
decision-making body.”
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Relationships with our fellow CCGs 
in Leeds have grown from strength 
to strength and we continue to 
cooperate effectively, sharing the 
responsibilities for commissioning 
city-wide services between the 
three organisations (NHS Leeds 
West CCG, NHS Leeds South & 
East CCG and ourselves at Leeds 
North CCG). Under this system, 
Leeds North has responsibility for 
the commissioning of Urgent Care, 
Mental Health, Learning Disability 
and Informatics (innovative, often 
city-wide information technology 
projects aimed at improving 
efficiencies and outcomes for  
public health and wellbeing). 

Some highlights for us have 
included the development of a 
Mental Health Framework for the 
city, in partnership with Together 
We Can (our service user group), 
Leeds City Council, Leeds and 
York Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust and numerous mental health 
community and voluntary sector 
groups (to name but a few of 
those involved). The Mental Health 
Framework sets out the direction 
and priorities for mental health 
commissioning for the next three 
years to guide developments and 
investment and is matched to the 
objectives of the national mental 
health strategy “No health without 
mental health”. It is a joint strategy 
and is key to ensuring that the city 
is just as focussed on improving 
mental health as it is on physical 
health – something we refer to as 
‘Parity of Esteem’. 

We were also pleased to see the 
way in which the urgent care 
system in Leeds coped with the 
unprecedented levels of demand 
experienced during the winter 
period. Despite huge pressure, 
the system in Leeds coped well 
and, unlike others, was able to 
avoid the difficult decision to call 
a major incident at its emergency 
departments. This was made 
possible through the efforts of 
frontline staff, and the improved 
communication between GPs, 
hospital staff and community  
care professionals. Once again,  
we would like to personally extend 
our gratitude to all those involved. 
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It has been important and 
extremely satisfying to see the way 
that Leeds has responded to the 
challenges following the outcomes 
of the Jimmy Savile investigations, 
and taken steps to develop and 
improve child safeguarding. Ofsted 
inspectors have recently recognised 
the strength of partnership 
working across Leeds to enable 
children across the city to live safer, 
healthier and happier lives. This is 
an endorsement of the hard work 
and approach we have taken over a 
number of years to join up services 
in the city and to put children at the 
heart of what we do. 

Whilst acknowledging some of 
the successes of the past year, we 
are also minded to look ahead 
and consider the challenges and 
opportunities in the year to come. 

Working with our GP member 
practices we have committed to an 
exciting scheme aimed at enabling 
GPs to provide not just for physical 
need but to address social factors 
that may hold the key to improved 
health and wellbeing, such as those 
around housing, relationships, 
finance and mental health issues. 
We call this ‘Social Prescribing’, and 
this will directly benefit patients of 
all 28 GP practices in Leeds North. 

Alongside Social Prescribing, we also 
recognise the critical role performed 
by advocacy and voluntary 
organisations (often referred to 
as the ‘Third Sector’) in improving 
health and wellbeing. To enhance 
the capacity of the Third Sector, we 
have committed to a Third Sector 
Grant Scheme, a £750,000 fund 
to award grants to organisations to 
fund projects that will improve the 
health and wellbeing of the people 
in north Leeds.

We would like to thank the staff at 
the CCG, our member GP practices 
and our partner organisations who 
have worked so hard to make 
the achievements of the past 
year possible. We know that their 
dedication and professionalism 
will continue to contribute to our 
successes in the year ahead. It is 
the work done by each of us which 
underpins the National Health 
Service, a national institution 
cherished throughout the country 
and envied elsewhere.

Nigel Gray 
Chief Officer

Jason Broch 
Chair
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2. Strategic Report

2.1.1 Who we are
We were established under the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 as a 
statutory body, with the function of 
commissioning local health services.

We are a membership organisation 
made up of 28 member GP 
practices and in 2014-2015 we had 
a budget of around £248 million 
covering a population of 212,612. 

Our office, Leafield House, King 
Lane, Leeds, LS17 5BP, which is a 
converted former health centre, is 
leased from NHS Property Services.

Our organisation is led by GPs 
and nurses supported by other 
healthcare professionals. We 
work together with patients, 
communities and GP practices in 
your area to make sure that the 
right NHS services are in place to 
support people and help improve 
their health and wellbeing.

2.1 Nature, Objectives and Strategies of the CCG
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Our mission is to make sure that in 
the next three years we will continue 
to develop successful and effective 
partnerships with our communities, 
patients and partners to reduce 
health inequalities and deliver 
improvements in health for local 
people within the resources available.

2.1.2 A commissioning 
organisation
We are one of three CCGs in 
Leeds, responsible for planning 
and funding healthcare on 
behalf of local people, along 
with NHS Leeds South and East 
CCG and NHS Leeds West CCG. 
We lead on behalf of the city for 
the negotiation, performance 
management and reporting of 
mental health, learning disabilities 
and urgent care services. The 
three CCGs in Leeds operate a 
collaborative approach towards 
commissioning.

We do not commission primary 
care services such as GP services, 
dental care, pharmacy or optometry 
(opticians). This is done by NHS 
England through their local area 
team, referred to as NHS England 
(Yorkshire and Humber). NHS 
England also has the responsibility 
for commissioning specialised 
services such as organ transplant 
and specialist cardiac services. 
Our partners in Leeds City 
Council have responsibility for 
commissioning public health 
services including health visiting 
and drug and alcohol services.

We work in partnership with our 
patients, communities and GP 
member practices to continually 
improve quality of care, to address 
health inequalities and to support 
people to stay healthier for longer.

We are clear about the legislative 
requirements associated with each 
of our statutory functions, including 
any restrictions on delegation of 
those functions. Responsibility for 
each duty and power has been 
clearly allocated to a lead director. 

Directorates have confirmed 
that their structures provide the 
necessary capability and capacity to 
undertake all our statutory duties. 

2.1.3 Tackling local health issues
We share the vision of the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy so 
that people of north Leeds:

•  Are involved in decisions made 
about them; will live in healthy 
and sustainable communities; 
experience a better quality of life;

•  Live full, active and independent 
lives; 

•  Live longer and have healthier 
lives with an overall principle of 
ensuring that people in north 
Leeds who are the poorest 
improve their health the fastest.

We know that there are a number 
of health issues affecting our 
communities including:

•  Babies in our more deprived 
communities have a one in four 
chance of having health problems. 
This compares to a one in 170 
chance in more affluent areas.
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•  The directly standardised rate 
for smoking for Leeds North 
CCG is 17,552 per 100,000. 
There is massive variation in rates 
between deprived and non-
deprived areas with the highest 
rate being 38,288 per 100,000 
and the lowest being 11,119 
per 100,000. 

•  61% of people who had a NHS 
Health Check in the north Leeds 
area last year were overweight 
or obese. 533 new diagnoses 
of cardiovascular disease were 
found as a result of an NHS 
Health Check in Leeds North 
CCG during 2013-14. 

•  The number of people going into 
hospital because of alcohol is 
increasing by 10% year on year.

•  In some of our communities, 
long-term conditions are not 
diagnosed soon enough which 
can lead to a delay in people 
receiving the most effective 
treatment and care.

•  Around 2,300 people have 
dementia in our area and this is 
increasing year on year.

•  Almost 1,500 people with long-
term health conditions will be 
admitted to hospital at least once 
a year for reasons that could have 
been avoided if their condition 
was better managed at home or 
in the community.

•  23% of the 72,000 identified 
carers in Leeds provide more than 
50 hours of care and support 
to someone every week. Caring 
responsibilities can have an 
adverse impact on the physical 
and mental health, education 
and employment potential of 
those who care, which can result 
in significantly poorer health 
and quality of life outcomes. 
These in turn can affect a carer’s 
effectiveness and lead to the 
admission of the cared for person 
to hospital or residential care .

•  Potential Years of Life Lost 
(PYLL) for avoidable causes for 
Leeds North CCG has been 
falling since 2009. However, 
PYLL for cardiovascular disease 
in north Leeds has remained 
stable since 2010 and for cancer 
has increased slightly. So the 
overall decrease in PYLL can 
be attributed to the PYLL from 
respiratory disease. 

Over the coming years we will be 
looking to develop services and 
partnerships that address some of 
these challenges.
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2.2 Our Mission, Aims and Values

As part of our three-year Clear and Credible Plan (April 
2013 to March 2016) our mission is to ensure that:

   Our successful and effective partnerships 
with our communities, patients and partners 
will reduce health inequalities and deliver 
improvements in health for local people within 
the resources available.

To help achieve our mission, we have 5 Strategic Aims. 
These are:

1.   To be a successful and robust organisation 
that puts clinicians, patients and carers at the 
forefront of commissioning high quality services 
based on the needs of local people and within 
the resources available.

   We and our partners do this through:

   •  Strong clinical leadership and professional 
development 

   •  Effective partnerships and collaboration.

   •  Robust infrastructures to support governance, 
safeguarding and commissioning.

   •  Embedded processes for utilising needs 
assessment, performance, outcome and 
patient experience data.

2.   To support people to be healthy for longer by 
promoting better disease management, prevention 
and early detection and treatment.

   We and our partners do this through:

   •  Participating in health and social care 
transformation programmes including 
clinical value in elective care, redesign of 
musculoskeletal pathways and improved 
prescribing.

   •  Integrating health and adult social care services.

   •  Supporting patients to better manage their 
own health and wellbeing. 

   •  Increasing early disease awareness 
and detection.

   •  Actively supporting and delivering healthy 
living initiatives (e.g. NHS Health Check) in 
primary care.
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3.   To drive the transformation of urgent care 
across the city, improving access and promoting 
appropriate use of urgent care services.

   We and our partners do this through:

   •  Leading on implementation of NHS 111 
across Leeds.

   •  Supporting campaigns to raise awareness of 
111 and the alternatives to A&E.

   •  Using business intelligence to inform micro-
commissioning of urgent care provision. 

   •  Improving care pathways for patients 
accessing Yorkshire Ambulance Service.

   •  Reviewing patient transport service 
(PTS) provision.

4.   To drive the improvement of services city-wide 
for people with mental health needs and 
learning disabilities.

   We and our partners do this through:

   •  A whole-system review of learning disabilities 

   •  Leading on mental health secondary care 
transformation. 

   •  Launching a city-wide dementia strategy.

   •  Establishing a provider management 
framework for mental health and learning 
disabilities. 

   •  Increasing access to psychological therapies.

5.   To promote choice based on quality of care and 
improve access to services for people in north Leeds. 

   We and our partners do this through:

   •  Enabling GP practices to actively 
promote Choice.

   •  Improving access to information about 
quality outcomes for patients.

   •  Providing better access to Choose and Book.

   •  Implementing an end of life care strategy.

To achieve these aims, our work is driven by a set of 
values that we strive to uphold, believing that these will 
best deliver the success we are aiming for. These are:

•  Embracing our patients as partners;

•  Working together with our local communities;

•  Listening to people and valuing their experiences;

•  Using available resources wisely and appropriately;

•  Being innovative and using best practice to 
continuously improve our NHS;

•  Being a learning organisation and supporting 
professional development.

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report
2.1  Nature, Objectives and  

Strategies of the CCG
2.2  Our mission, Aims and Values
2.3  Commissioning Intentions  

and Ambitions
2.4  Our 6 Health Priorities
2.5  Performance
2.6  Future Developments
2.7  Our Staff
2.8  Quality
2.9  Safeguarding
2.10  Serious Incidents, never events  

and complaints

2.11  Our Commitment to sustainability

3. Members Report

4.  Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



14 NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

In 2014-15 we have been investing in services designed to 
improve the care, treatment and ongoing support of our 
patients, their families and their carers. This includes investing in 
services that make sure people with dementia, their families and 
carers can benefit from the right support, developing crisis care 
services in mental health and cancer screening. 

Commissioning services is based on the best available clinical evidence, 
input from a range of health and care professionals and feedback from 
patients, carers and the wider public. These intentions are aligned to our 
6 health priorities, delivery of quality markers such as performance targets 
and the need to address health inequalities. We pursue these intentions 
through a number of actions including changes to contracts, redesign of 
services, testing ideas and exploring options. Examples of the actions we 
have taken are highlighted in the following sections.

2.3 Commissioning Intentions and Ambitions 2.4 Our 6 Health Priorities

We strive to be a successful 
and robust organisation that 
puts patients, clinicians, and 
carers at the forefront of 
commissioning high quality 
services based on the needs 
of local people and within the 
resources available.

Following engagement with 
clinicians, patients and carers since 
we were established in 2013, 
we identified six health priorities, 
which have been a key focus of 
our commissioning. We continue 
to work in these priority areas 
in addition to focusing on the 
‘must dos’ contained in the NHS 
England’s guidance and the NHS 
Constitution.

Below are our six health priorities, 
with pointers to the work we are 
doing in this area with our partner 
organisations.
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1. Support families to have  
the best start in life
We supported the creation of the 
Chapeltown and Harehills Best 
Start Zone. Best Start which seeks 
to ensure that every baby in Leeds 
has a good start in life, and the 
Chapeltown and Harehills Zone 
build on the achievements of the 
previous Chapeltown Reducing 
Infant Mortality Demonstration site 
to have a broader focus both in 
relation to geography and to age 
(0-2) years.

Best Start, which is strategically led 
by the Children and Families Public 
Health Team, and for the Zone in 
Chapeltown and Harehills by the 
East North East Public Health Team 
at Leeds City Council, focusses 
on children from conception to 
age two years and their parents, 
including: 

•  Healthy mothers and healthy 
babies at population and 
individual level.

•  Parents experiencing stress will be 
identified early and supported.

•  Well prepared parents.

•  Good attachment and bonding.

•  Development of early language 
and communication.

2. Help children to live  
healthy lifestyles
We work closely with our colleagues 
in Public Health to tackle this health 
priority. The Children and Families 
Public Health Team at Leeds City 
Council, who lead on the children’s 
work healthy lifestyle programme 
for the city, have developed a 
number of initiatives, including:

•  The Food for Life strategy 
to increase initiation and 
continuation of breast feeding.

•  Preparation for Birth and 
Beyond and Leeds Baby Steps 
programmes to support perinatal 
provision and education.

•  Oral health promotion 
programmes.

•  The Leeds Early Start Service 
integrating health visiting and 
children’s centre services when 
health visiting services transfer 
from NHS England to Leeds City 
Council in October 2015.

•  Helping Hand, a framework for 
supporting behaviour change in 
partnership with parents.

•  Childhood obesity, including the 
HENRY programme to prevent 
and tackle early childhood obesity 
by training community and 
health practitioners to work more 
effectively with parents and 
new families.

•  The Activity for Life physical 
activity programme.

•  Commission Healthy Schools.

•  Lifestyle programmes addressing 
alcohol and substance misuse; 
smoking and sexual health issues.

•  Antenatal, newborn and 
children’s school programmes 
including immunisations.
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3. Support people to be  
active and healthy
A range of healthy lifestyle services 
are available to support patients to 
be active and healthy both within 
practices and accessible to practices. 
This includes:

•  Healthy lifestyle advisors. 

•  Health trainers.

•  Smoking cessation advisors. 

•  Weight management services.

In addition to Leeds City Council-
commissioned alcohol services, we 
have also funded the delivery of 
further alcohol support clinics in a 
number of practices, and additional 
health trainers. 

The NHS Health Check is a 
programme that focuses on adults 
in England aged 40 -74 without 
a pre-existing condition. It checks 
circulatory and vascular health and 
identifies risk of getting vascular 
disease. Through NHS Health Checks 
in Leeds North we diagnosed 533 
cases of cardiovascular disease 
between 2014-15. 

Funding was provided to 
‘Altogether Better’, a scheme aimed 
at rolling out a Practice Health 
Champion volunteer programme 
in practices where 30% or more 
of the practice population live 
in deprived areas.  A range of 
activities are being delivered 
including walking groups, a games 
group, as well as signposting and 
supporting patients to access other 
support services. 112 local people 
are now operating as practice 
champions in Chapeltown,  
Gipton and Harehills.

We funded Leeds Black Health 
Initiative to deliver two projects 
locally. In August 2014, Fusion Café 
was launched in Chapeltown. This 
runs weekly and provides a healthy 
meal together with a structured 
health education programme 
and is targeted at members of 
the community with long-term 
conditions and/or those that are 
socially isolated. 

4. Increase early detection  
of health conditions; improve 
care for people with long-term 
conditions
All 28 member practices 
participated in a scheme comprising 
our priority areas. As a result:

•  1,437 additional patients were 
identified as having high blood 
pressure. 

•  12,877 Alcohol screens (Audit C) 
were carried out – 76% scored 
higher than 8 – which resulted in 
brief advice or onward referral.

•  2,911 patients were identified 
as being at risk of developing 
diabetes, 94% were provided 
with pre-diabetes advice.

•  Patients with severe mental 
illness have poorer physical 
health, so we supported our 
practices to undertake more 
physical health checks among 
this group of patients.
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•  24 member practices were 
supported by the Primary Care 
Team to implement the ‘Year of 
Care’. The Year of Care scheme 
differs from the traditional ways 
of GP – Patient consultation 
by steering away from the 
health care professional being 
the decision maker, shifting to 
a partnership model in which 
patients play an active part in 
determining their own care 
and support. It encompasses all 
people with long term conditions, 
in a holistic, preventive patient-
centred style to determine the 
patient goals and support needs.

5. Support carers
We focussed on the health 
outcomes for frail older people 
and those with complex needs 
registered with local practices. 
This work was undertaken from 
September 2014 – March 2015, 
with a focus on the carer. Carers’ 
details were documented and 
they were involved in discussions 
about the patient, thus identifying 
any support and information they 
needed. There has been a drive to 
ensure that all Carers’ are given 
a ‘yellow card’ which is a referral 
scheme to Carers’ Leeds, a support 
group where advice and practical 
assistance or carers can be accessed.

6. Improve end of life care
Our Clinical Lead for End of Life 
is involved in the commissioning 
of a new Leeds service model for 
delivery of high quality palliative 
and end of life care. To date a lot 
of engagement work has been 
undertaken to gather the views 
of patients, families and carers. 
This has formed the basis of a 
service specification which is in the 
process of being agreed. The CCG 
has a focus on the quality of care 
plans. This has resulted in more 
patients being able to die in their 
preferred place of death and an 
increase in the documentation of 
Do Not Attempt Cardiopulmonary 
Resuscitation orders, which helps 
ensures that patients’ wishes are 
adhered to.
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2.5 Performance

2.5.1 Achieving targets
There were some significant 
improvements on last year’s 
performance standards, notably 
around the four-hour wait in 
A&E and the healthcare acquired 
infection measures. We continue 
to face a number of performance 
challenges as we move into 
2015-16. Some of these are 
areas we have traditionally 
found challenging. We remain 
committed to meeting these from 
understanding of delivery data and 
working together with providers 
to help overcome any difficulties 
wherever possible. These are 
constantly reviewed and managed 
through our risk register.

We have made significant 
investment in additional capacity 
for planned care for the population 
to ensure that our population can 
be seen in good time. There was 
an improvement in performance 
for how many patients were seen 
within 18 weeks of referral. We 
achieved more than the required 
target of 90% of all patients 
who need to be admitted to 

hospital. For those who required 
treatment but did not need hospital 
admittance, we achieved the target 
for our second year as a CCG at 
more than 95%.

We have made significant 
investment in ‘system resilience’ to 
support additional capacity in our 
system and workforce to support 
patient flow through the system. 
Despite considerable national and 
local challenge, more than 95% of 
patients attending A&E are now 
consistently being seen, treated, 
admitted to hospital or discharged 
within the four hour target. 
Again this continues last year’s 
achievement.

There have been several national 
campaigns for cancer, with 
significant increase in the numbers 
being referred; waits for cancer 
care continue, however, to be 
generally achieved. 

Improving on last year, the CCG has 
achieved its zero-tolerance target 
for MRSA infection attributed to us 
as a commissioner under healthcare 
associated infection rates. There 
were however three cases of MRSA 

infection which affected Leeds 
North patients, (all of which were 
attributed to services provided 
within our acute trust) one less than 
the total in 2013-14. We continue 
to work with our colleagues across 
the city in the investigation of each 
case to ensure that the root causes 
of the infection are identified and 
lessons learned are applied. We 
have also achieved our target for 
Clostridium Difficile cases.

Areas where we have not achieved 
the required performance standards 
in 2014-15 are:

•  Improving our performance on 
62-day cancer wait times from 
GP referral to first treatment. As 
in 2013-14, this has continued to 
be an issue throughout the year 
and remains the most difficult of 
the nine cancer wait standards to 
achieve. We have commissioned 
additional activity for 2015-16 
to support this achievement 
going forward.

•  We are working with the 
ambulance service to improve 
both the West Yorkshire 
performance position of a 90% 
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response within 8 minutes, and 
the local CCG position. Plans 
have been developed for both.

•  Despite providing increased 
choice around access to mental 
health services and investing 
additional resource, we have 
struggled to maintain and 
increase last year’s performance 
for improving urgent early 
intervention services for patients. 
This is a national issue that many 
CCGs have experienced. We 
are continuing to work with our 
providers on this and will be re-
procuring the service for 2016-17.

It is clear that we are on a firm 
performance and quality footing 
and we can continue to build on 
this throughout the coming year.

2.5.2 Improving the health 
and wellbeing of our local 
population 
Over the past year, we have worked 
with our GP member practices and 
local partners to improve the health 
and wellbeing of local people.

The work continues, and below are 
some specific examples of what we 
have achieved. 

Cancer care 
•  Our GP Lead for Cancer is 

working on increasing screening 
rates for bowel cancer within 
black and minority ethnic (BME) 
communities in Leeds. This 
involves large scale engagement 
with those communities so that 
we can understand what needs 
to be done differently to increase 
bowel screening rates. 

•  We are seeking ways to improve 
how people with suspected 
cancer are referred from primary 
to secondary care.

Diabetes
•  Our GP Lead for Diabetes, has a 

detailed work plan to increase the 
quality of care for patients with 
diabetes. For example practices in 
Chapeltown locality are working 
to explore the opportunity for 
staff to attend an accredited 
insulin management course. 
The aim is to recruit a locality-

based Diabetes Specialist Nurse 
to provide ongoing training and 
support to practices for patients 
already on or just starting insulin. 

•  Work continues to deliver 
diabetic foot care education to 
practices throughout the CCG. 

End of Life
•  Our GP Lead for End of Life 

and is currently involved in the 
commissioning of a new Leeds 
service model for delivery of 
high quality palliative and end 
of life care.

Other specific examples include GP 
practices working to reduce the 
risk of heart disease by identifying 
and supporting people who drink 
unsafe amounts of alcohol. There 
were also 5,146 people identified 
as being at risk of developing 
diabetes and a further 1,008 
people identified with high blood 
pressure. This has given real focus 
to our work as we are able to 
target these patients at risk.

One of our key objectives is to 
improve the quality of primary care. 
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Over the year we have worked 
with member practices, individually 
and in geographical localities, 
to understand and respond to 
variation in quality. For example:

•  In Chapeltown, practices 
identified access as an area to 
improve. They worked together 
to run training sessions for 
both front-of-house and clinical 
staff on communication and 
telephone triage. 

•  In Otley and Wetherby, practices 
improved their expertise and 
ability to more accurately 
diagnose and manage 
dermatological conditions. 

As a CCG, our GP Commissioning 
leads drive and develop the 
commissioning priorities of the 
organisation. We worked with 
them to develop initiatives for 
example to:

•  Enable member practices 
to better support older and 
vulnerable people closer to home 
through more joined-up provision 
of primary care.

Supporting innovation in 
primary care
Each year we set aside a portion of 
our budget to support innovation 
in primary care. This provides 
funding for new and different 
ideas to improve care for patients. 
Examples include:

•  Commissioning Westfield 
Medical Centre, in partnership 
with Black Health Initiative, to 
facilitate weekly sessions for 
local people at a community 
venue. The sessions are aimed 
at reducing social isolation, 
helping self-management and 
lifestyle particularly the healthy 
cooking of cultural foods, and 
encouraging inter-generational 
relationships. 

•  Commissioning Changing Faces 
to deliver up to four clinics a 
month. These are run by two 
Changing Faces practitioners 
who offer psycho-social support 
to people with disfigurements 
via one-to-one consultations and 
group sessions. The overall aim 
is to build the understanding 

of the patient’s condition, their 
confidence and help them share 
their experience with others.

•  Commissioning the piloting of 
fractional exhaled nitric oxide 
(FeNO) to diagnose steroid-
responsive disease and guide 
asthma management in primary 
care. The aim is to improve the 
quality of care for patients with 
asthma, reduce the number of 
hospital admissions and outpatient 
appointments. The pilot will also 
ensure patients are on the correct 
doses of inhaled steroids.

Medicines Management
We want to make sure patients 
make the best use of the medicines 
prescribed to them, reduce 
medicines waste and work with 
prescribers to choose clinically 
approved cost effective treatments. 

Here are some examples of what we 
have achieved over the past year:
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•  Improved treatment of 
patients with diabetes

  The medicines optimisation team 
worked to improve the care of 
patients with diabetes. So far the 
practices have reviewed over 800 
patients with diabetes who were 
not getting the best treatment. 
As a result, more patients are 
benefiting from their treatment, 
fewer are being admitted into 
hospital, and the cost is below 
the average for England. 

•  Improving antimicrobial 
prescribing 

  We have led a number of 
initiatives such as improving 
awareness of appropriate 
antibiotic use for both patients 
and prescribers for Leeds North 
CCG and the city, which has 
contributed to Leeds North 
(-4.15%) showed the greatest 
reduction in antimicrobial 
prescribing of all the CCGs in 
Yorkshire and Humber (average 
0.05%) and below the England 
average (0.70%). Clostridium 
Difficile rates are below the 

trajectory, which will contribute 
to lower antibiotic resistance. 

•  Care home medication  
reviews contributing to 
admissions avoidance

  We have worked with our 
GP member practices and 
care homes to review 380 
patients, which resulted in 1600 
interventions, of which 140 were 
for unnecessary medicines which 
were stopped, saving £27,500 a 
year for the first six months. We 
avoided admissions to hospital 
with interventions such as gastric 
protection reviewing medication 
to reduce falls, saving £31,000.  

•  Better treatment to  
reduce stroke

  We worked with GP practices 
and secondary care colleagues 
to improve the access to 
anticoagulant medication. This 
helped more patients diagnosed 
with atrial fibrillation to be 
treated appropriately and reduce 
the chances of stroke. So far 
153 people have been reviewed 
and started treatment, which 

should result in six fewer people 
suffering a stroke each year in 
north Leeds.

•  Cost-effective prescribing
  We have continued to optimise 

the prescribing of medicines, 
which has resulted in safer, more 
effective prescribing. At the same 
time significant savings have 
been made on our prescribing 
budget by minimising the 
amount of medicines wasted. As 
a result, the CCG is consistently 
below Yorkshire and Humber 
and England averages, and on a 
significant number of occasions 
the best in class.

•  Improved patient safety in 
relation to medicines related 
incidences 

Working with GPs and secondary 
care providers we have increased 
the number of medicines-related 
incidences that are reported. 
Medicines and Healthcare Products 
Regulatory Agency (MHRA) safety 
advice has been implemented 
within practices.
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•  Improved access to medication 
out of hours 

  A citywide community pharmacy 
urgent repeat medication service 
has been commissioned to help 
reduce referrals to NHS 111 
when patients have forgotten or 
run out of medication over the 
weekend. Since December 2014 
nearly 300 patients have accessed 
this service.

•  Efficiency savings
  We have continued to 

commission medicines waste 
support workers within the GP 
practices who have delivered 
around £600,000 of savings 
this year, for reinvestment in 
healthcare services.

Urgent care
We host the city-wide urgent care 
team who lead the urgent care 
agenda across Leeds. This includes 
operational system management, 
urgent care contracting, planning 
service improvement and strategic 
development.

During 2014-15 urgent care 
received regular national media 
coverage about the timeliness of 
care delivered in A&E departments. 
While the number of people going 
to A&E has remained static, there 
has been a trend of greater activity 
among patients, meaning that 
people are more unwell; especially 
the elderly, and have required 
admittance to hospital as well as 
needing aftercare on discharge. 

Despite these increased pressures 
Leeds emergency departments 
have been among the highest 
performing in West Yorkshire, 
achieving the Emergency Care 
Standard of seeing 95% of patients 
within four hours. 

There are further achievements 
last year within urgent care. These 
support the continued delivery of 
high quality services to our patients.

•  Tour de France 2014
  The urgent care team, worked 

with their partners to coordinate 
a city-wide health and social 
care plan as the world’s biggest 
bike race came to the city. The 
detailed planning ensured that 
the city was fully prepared for any 
eventuality, with fully integrated 
contingency plans in place 
across all NHS providers and first 
responder organisations. 

•  Urgent care engagement 
  We gathered the views of nearly 

4,000 people across three different 
engagement projects, which 
gave valuable insight into the 
behaviours and experiences of 
those using the urgent care system 
in Leeds. To our knowledge this 
is one of the largest pieces of 
urgent care engagement work 
undertaken anywhere in the 
country, and has already proved 
extremely useful in informing the 
priorities for allocating our system 
resilience funding and targeting 
the work of the urgent care team 
to best effect.
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•  Implementation of new 
system resilience plan and 
prioritisation of funding

  New guidance was published in 
June 2014 to assist CCGs and 
provider organisations in their 
planning, recognising there is 
pressure on services all year. The 
Leeds System Resilience plan was 
developed, which highlighted 
priority areas for investments and 
ensured a system-wide approach 
to identifying and resolving 
problems.

Mental Health
•  Leeds Mental Health 

Framework
  One of the key developments in 

our mental health commissioning 
activity was the development and 
agreement of the Leeds Mental 
Health Framework; the guiding 
document for the development of 
mental health services in the city. 
Co-produced with the Mental 
Health Partnership Board it 
reflects the national mental health 
strategy “No health without  
 

mental health”. A series of 
stakeholder workshops identified 
key themes that assist the delivery 
of five stated outcomes – and it is 
these that form the priorities for 
2015-16

  •  Developing a citywide 
Information Hub – that is 
both public and professional 
focussed

  •  Remodelling community-
based mental health services 

  •  Improving the transitions 
between adolescent and 
adult mental health services 

  •  Delivering the Crisis Care 
Concordat – that improves 
the urgent care pathway 
for people with mental 
health issues

  •  Delivering the national 
waiting time standards for 
Early Intervention in Psychosis 
and Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies 
(IAPT) services. 

•  Improving Access to 
Psychological Therapies (IAPT)

  Mental health services continue 
to be delivered by both NHS 
and third sector agencies in the 
city across both primary and 
secondary care. Our primary care 
IAPT service is commissioned 
to deliver the national target of 
access to psychological therapies 
for 15% of the Leeds population 
(the estimated proportion 
expected to experience common 
mental health problems). 
Meeting this challenging target 
has required changes during 
the year to improve both access 
and waiting times. We also 
introduced a very popular range 
of seminars and classes reaching 
over 50 people at a time. 

 Overall the service has achieved:

  •  A 54% reduction in service 
waiting list from Quarter 3  
to Quarter 4 (2014-15)

  •  1,451 (13%) more people 
had entered treatment 
(citywide) by February 2015, 
compared to February 2014  

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report
2.1  Nature, Objectives and  

Strategies of the CCG
2.2  Our mission, Aims and Values
2.3  Commissioning Intentions  

and Ambitions
2.4  Our 6 Health Priorities
2.5  Performance
2.6  Future Developments
2.7  Our Staff
2.8  Quality
2.9  Safeguarding
2.10  Serious Incidents, never events  

and complaints

2.11  Our Commitment to sustainability

3. Members Report

4.  Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



25NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

  •  413 (17%) more people had 
entered treatment (Leeds 
North) by February 2015, 
compared to February 2014.

  However, despite significant 
service developments and greatly 
reduced waiting times to enter 
the service, access and recovery 
targets have not been achieved 
by the service throughout 2015. 
It is a stated commissioning 
intention for 2015 to re-tender 
the current IAPT service.

•  Rehabilitation and  
Recovery Service

  As the city-wide lead for mental 
health commissioning in Leeds, 
we commission The Leeds and 
York Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust (LYPFT) to deliver 
rehabilitation services for people 
in Leeds. 

LYPFT rehabilitation and recovery 
services have undergone significant 
service redesign and restructure 
during 2014-15. This has shifted 
the focus from ward based support 
to a more recovery focussed care 
coordinated approach – to reduce 

length of stay and improve the 
continuity of support for people 
once they have been discharged. 
The recovery team is a partnership 
of LYPFT and three third sector 
organisations. A pilot for personal 
mental health budgets is due 
to begin during 2015-16 in the 
Rehabilitation and Recovery Service 
for people with complex needs. 
This will enable the concept to be 
tested and evaluated locally, with 
a view to wider implementation 
throughout the city, if successful. 

•  Employment Support 
  Leeds continues to lead the 

way in promoting employment 
support and job retention 
services specifically for people 
with mental health issues. 
We commission WorkPlace 
Leeds (part of Leeds Mind) to 
deliver this service. The service 
is nationally recognised as an 
example of good practice, 
significantly outperforming the 
national Work Programme in 
terms of outcomes and best 
value. An ongoing challenge for 
this service has been managing 

the level of need within existing 
resources. Additional recurrent 
citywide resource has been 
provided for the service to 
employ 2.5 additional workers, 
from April 2015.

During 2014-15, Leeds Mind was 
commissioned by the three Leeds 
CCGs to deliver, in addition to their 
centralised Job Retention Services, 
a Pilot Project linked directly with 
a small number of GP practices. 
The pilot ends in March 2016 
and the learning from the project 
will be used to inform future 
commissioning intentions. 

Leeds CCGs have also funded Leeds 
Mind to support the development 
of the Mindful Employer Network – 
a forum for a wide range of private 
and public sector employers to work 
together in improving awareness of 
mental health in their organisations. 
A very successful employment 
conference organised by Leeds 
Mind and hosted by Eversheds 
was held in November 2014 and 
attended by over 100 people. 
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2.5.3 Emergency preparedness, 
resilience and response (EPRR).
We host the city-wide CCG EPRR 
Group which is responsible for 
providing assurance with NHS 
England Core Standards for 
Emergency Preparedness, Resilience 
and Response (EPRR) as a category 
2 responder (supporting agency) 
under the Civil Contingencies 
Act 2004. Category 1 responders 
include ambulance and acute 
hospital service providers, local 
authorities and the Department  
of Health.

These core standards seek 
assurance on all levels of planning, 
guidance and preparedness on 
information sharing, command 
and control arrangements, 
responsibilities and mutual aid 
arrangements to enable prompt 
recovery from disruptions. Each 
NHS organisation is responsible 
for the achievement, maintenance 
and monitoring of the standards, 
and is accountable to NHS England 
through the Local Health Resilience 
Partnership Board. 

As part of EPRR planning, all health 
and social care organisations 
are expected to have business 
continuity and resilience plans 
in place, with clear escalation/
de-escalation plans and on-call 
arrangements where relevant. 

In addition to NHS England 
assurance and business continuity, 
recent meetings have considered:

•  Developing a Leeds CCG plan for 
Pandemic Influenza 

•  Ensuring appropriate staff receive 
‘Strategic Leadership in a Crisis’ 
training

•  Opportunities around developing 
a small cohort of CCG staff that 
have the skills and competence 
to work clinically at times of 
system pressure 
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Looking to the future, we  
are working with our member 
practices and partners to plan 
for services which will benefit 
local patients and meet our 
priorities.

Primary Care
High quality, sustainable primary 
care delivered by GPs, is central 
to delivering our ambitions as an 
organisation. 

Patients registered with practices 
here report some of the highest 
levels of satisfaction nationally and 
across West Yorkshire. Some 80% 
of our patients would recommend 
their GP surgery (compared to 78% 
nationally and 78% West Yorkshire) 
while 87% of our patients are able 
to get an appointment when needed 
(compared to 85% nationally and 
84% West Yorkshire).

To maintain and improve these 
levels of satisfaction within the 
context of increasing demands and 
reduced funding within primary 
care, we aim to do the following:  

•  General Practice Improvement 
Programme (GPIP) 

  This will provide practical and 
dedicated support and ‘head 
space’ to practice teams to 
improve services provided to 
patients, improve staff morale 
and better respond to the future.

•  Reducing health inequalities 
  To help address the significant 

health inequalities across our 
population, we have made 
additional recurrent funding 
available for practices to improve 
the health outcomes of patients 
living in the most deprived 
communities. 

•  Social Prescribing 
  We know from our member 

practices, that many people vising 
their GP actually have an unmet 
social need, such as those around 
housing, relationships, finance 
and mental health issues. In 
response we are procuring a new 
social prescribing service, to be 
delivered by health and wellbeing 
co-ordinators in member practices.

•  Co-commissioning 
  We will continue to work with the 

NHS England Area Team and the 
other Leeds CCGs to ensure that 
we use our collective budget and 
local knowledge to commission 
services that improve the health 
and wellbeing of our population. 

2.6 Future Developments
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•  Collaboration and integration 
  Building on our strong 

foundation of collaboration 
between GP practices at locality 
level and integrated working 
between primary and community 
care, we will support new models 
of more integrated care and 
funding to deliver more patient-
centred care. This will include 
scoping how we can commission 
improved access to primary care 
both in and out of traditional 
opening hours.

Medicines Management
The medicines management team 
works with practices to improve 
prescribing quality and ensure 
value for money. Plans for 2015-16 
include:

•  Diabetes
  Continuing progress with 

our work on diabetes, and 
ensure patients are the centre 
of all decisions on their care 
and medication. This includes 
developing education and peer 
support for patients.

•  Antibiotics
  Continuing to ensure antibiotics 

are used appropriately and that 
GP and patients understand 
the risks and benefits of 
the treatment. We’ll work 
with patients from different 
ethnic backgrounds to better 
understand some of their health 
beliefs and how they access 
healthcare so messages are 
delivered appropriately.

•  Cardiovascular disease
  Encouraging our practices to 

work with patients who are at 
increased risk of developing 
cardiovascular disease, to ensure 
that they are on the appropriate 
preventative medication.

•  Community pharmacy
  Working closely with community 

pharmacy to develop better 
working relationships with our 
member practices, to continue 
to reduce medicines waste 
and make better use of the 
clinical services that community 
pharmacy can offer.

•  Asthma
  Running a pilot project to ensure 

patients who suffer from asthma 
are appropriately diagnosed and 
are on the most appropriate 
treatment.

Urgent care
In line with the national urgent 
and emergency care review, 
Leeds continues to build strong 
foundations for the future of urgent 
care focussing on how we combine 
care, compassion, communications 
and continuity to make sure that 
people feel confident about which 
service they choose. 

The information gathered to date, 
including from the public and staff 
on their experience of accessing 
/ delivering services, will inform 
proposals for what changes 
need to be made to build a 
sustainable urgent and emergency 
care system for Leeds, including 
primary, community, hospital and 
social care services.
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Priority areas for 2015-16 include 
but are not limited to:

•  Community and Primary care
  Work with community services, 

social care professionals, GP 
surgeries, pharmacies and Out 
of Hours providers including 
111 to shape the future 
provision of urgent care services 
in the community including 
the promotion of self-care. 
By providing timely and easily 
accessible options for patients 
requiring urgent care services 
outside of hospital it will enable 
our A&E departments to focus on 
patients whose needs can only be 
met by hospital services. 

•  Accident and emergency in 
hospital

  For those who do need to come 
into A&E we want to make the 
process smoother and ensure 
that, when patients need 
unplanned care in a hospital 
setting, they are seen in the 
right place by the right team 
the first time. Our engagement 

information tells us that patients 
experience heightened anxiety 
if having to be seen by multiple 
teams to receive their care. By 
cutting out the duplication and 
waste we aim to improve the 
patient experience, as well as 
cutting costs. 

•  Mental health crisis services 
  Continue to improve the services 

provided to people experiencing 
a mental health crisis to ensure 
patients have equal access to 
services as those with physical 
health needs. Partnership working 
includes the West Yorkshire 
Police and Yorkshire Ambulance 
Services to ensure a collaborative 
approach to support some our 
most vulnerable patients. 

•  High volume services users
  Work with the most frequent 

users of urgent and emergency 
services such as frail older people, 
homeless people and those with 
alcohol or drug dependencies, to 
provide tailored support to them.

Mental Health
•  Parity of esteem
  The increasing national focus 

on achieving ‘parity of esteem’ 
for mental health within the 
NHS gives both a steer and push 
to improve the outcomes for 
people with mental health issues 
particularly in relation to their 
additional physical health needs as 
well as timely access to services. 

  This means increasing the 
emphasis on healthy living 
-particularly in relation to 
smoking cessation – and 
increasing the take up of physical 
health checks in primary care. 
The parity of esteem agenda 
will be integral to improvement 
projects. Examples include:

  •  Commissioning for Quality 
and Innovation in place with 
our secondary mental health 
provider focused on:

  •  Smoking cessation and 
nutritional support to 
improve lifestyle
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  •  Learning disability 
community services liaison 
with primary care, to improve 
the quality and take up of 
annual health checks.

  •  Prioritising smoking cessation 
support in primary care for 
severe mental health illnesses. 

•  The Crisis Care Concordat 
  This national initiative is designed 

to deliver parity of esteem in 
Crisis Care and it is one of 
our key improvement projects 
through 2015-16 – working in 
partnership with the Strategic 
Urgent Care Board. 

•  Integration and pooled 
funding 

  Improving efficiency and reducing 
duplication are essential as we 
face budgetary challenges. To 
assist this in mental health we 
have initiated discussions with 
Leeds City Council’s Adult Social 
Care services to identify a legal 
mechanism to pool funds and 
ensure the most effective and 
appropriate use of our combined 
mental health resource for the city.

 •  User Involvement 

  We have increased our 
investment in service user 
involvement. The Dual Diagnosis 
reference group and the ‘Together 
We Can’ user group supported by 
Leeds Involving People are now 
reaching over 100 service users 
on a regular basis. 

•  Digital innovation
  We are committed to developing 

faster access to information and 
improved clarity about what 
services can provide. In addition to 
the Information Hub (a city-wide 
online mental health information 
resource), we are supporting the 
mHealth digital innovation project 
in the development of phone 
apps, improved access to on-line 
support, and digital access 
to services.

•  Specialist learning disabilities 
health services

  Following the Winterbourne 
View in 2012, and subsequent 
programmes such as the Joint 
Improvement Programme, recent 
national reports in 2014 and 

2015, Time for Change and 
Transforming Care for People 
with Learning Disabilities, a 
number of recommendations are 
identified to improve services for 
people with a learning disability 
and the most complex needs.

  The recommendations and 
direction of travel from both 
reports identifies the need to 
develop new ways of working 
which challenge traditional 
models of provision.

  Work in Leeds in 2015-2016 
will review the current model 
of community specialist health 
services to improve the response 
to people in crisis, including the 
increased capacity to offer a 
service out of hours. In addition, 
the inpatient unit will be 
improved to provide a flexible 
environment to enhance care 
and treatment. New supported 
living and residential social care 
is also being developed within 
the city in this period to improve 
the capacity and range of 
services available.
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•  Respite Care
  The Strategic Review of Learning 

Disabilities in 2013 identified 
the need to improve a range 
of services including respite 
care. Working with health and 
social care partners, a review 
of current respite provision has 
been done and new options 
developed to address increasing 
demand and the impact of 
changing demographics. Work 
is progressing in 2015 and will 
continue over the next year.

  As part of this work it is intended 
to engage and consult with a 
range of stakeholders including 
service users and carers to 
assist in developing a range of 
options to augment the current, 
predominantly bed-based, 
provision and provide more 
person centred options.

•  Improving quality of and 
access to healthcare

  Following a pilot project in 2013 
a two-year year quality initiative 
with Leeds and York Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust, to improve 
the quality and uptake of health 
checks for people with learning 
disabilities, commenced in 2014. 
The scheme has involved three 
learning nurses working with 
identified GP practices across all 
three CCGs and in conjunction 
with the city-wide GP Clinical 
Lead offering a series of education 
sessions. It has provided practical 
resources and help to improve 
identification of learning disability 
patients and how to offer 
improved health checks.

•  Making Time
  This 12-month project aims to 

improve access to community 
pharmacies for people with 
learning disabilities. Making Time 
will see pharmacies offering up to 
five sessions to help people with 
learning disabilities understand 
and use their medication 
effectively and provide simple 
health checks and health advice.

•  Breast screening
  Women with learning disabilities 

are less likely than women in the 
general population to attend 
breast screening and have a 
lower awareness of breast health. 
In the next year we will develop 
breast awareness, specifically for 
women with learning disabilities. 

•  Personal health budgets
  Building on work over the last 

two years, further work will 
be undertaken in 2015/16 to 
improve the uptake of personal 
health budgets for people with 
learning disabilities. In the last 
year 25 people received a direct 
payment or personal health 
budget, an increase on the 
previous year.
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2.7.1 Sickness and employee 
engagement
Our workforce strategy and 
organisational development plan 
continues to be implemented in 
support of our vision and values.

We hold monthly team briefs 
delivered by our Chief Officer to 
communicate key messages and 
allow staff to feedback. Our Chief 
Officer writes a monthly blog 
and actively invites comment and 
feedback on the issues he raises. 
We believe we are dynamic in the 
way we provide information to our 
employees and consult staff on a 
range of issues including policies, 
proposals to improve services for 
the local population and CCG 
developments such as our Clear 
and Credible Plan. 

The Leeds CCG wide Social 
Partnership Forum continues to 
operate between management 
and recognised trade union 
representatives. The purpose of 

the forum is to inform, consult 
and sometimes negotiate with 
trade unions on key issues. We 
conducted a local staff survey in 
2014 based on the National Staff 
Survey, achieving a high response 
rate of 83%. Results were very 
positive and there have been 
improvements across a number 
of indicators compared to the 
previous year. An action plan is 
being developed to address any 
areas for improvement which will 
be taken forward as part of the 
organisational development plan. 

We achieved an average of 90% 
(February 2015) compliance for 
statutory and mandatory training 
for directly employed staff. We 
continue to support staff to 
complete training in order to raise 
compliance and reach our 95% 
target. The appraisal system, based 
on objectives and behaviours, has 
been embedded and is aligned 
with changes to incremental pay 
progression for staff on Agenda 

for Change Terms and Conditions. 
This system enables staff to feel 
motivated and supported to 
achieve high performance in 
relation to our strategic objectives 
and priorities. 

From April 2014 to March 2015 we 
lost a total of 313 days to sickness 
absence which equates to 7 days 
sickness per employee. This is 
primarily due to seven cases of long 
term absence; we are pleased to 
report short term absence continues 
to be low. Details can be found in 
note 4.3 of the annual accounts.

Gender Equality
The table below provides a 
breakdown of our staff by gender.

2.7 Our Staff

Female Male

Board 4 9

Staff  
(Directly employed as 
at 31st March 2015)

40 17
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2.7.2 Equality and Diversity
We are committed to eliminating 
unlawful discrimination and 
promoting equality of opportunity 
in the healthcare services we 
commission. Likewise we believe in 
creating a workforce that is broadly 
representative of the population 
we serve. We make sure that 
equality and diversity is assessed 
when planning and commissioning 
local healthcare. 

One of the ways we aim to 
achieve this is through proactive 
engagement and consultation with 
service users and carers and local 
communities to understand their 
needs and how best to commission 
the most appropriate services to 
meet those needs. 

In addition we consider the needs 
of all staff who work within 
our organisation by ensuring 
appropriate policies are in place and 
provide mandatory training. 

Policies 
To ensure that staff do not 
experience discrimination, 
harassment and victimisation we 
ensure equality is integrated across 
all our employment practices and 
have a range of policies including; 

•  Acceptable Standards  
of Behaviour Policy (this  
includes dignity at work)

•  Equal Opportunities Policy

•  Managing Sickness  
Absence Policy

•  Recruitment and Selection

Equality impact assessments have 
been carried out on all relevant 
policies and over the next year 
we will be monitoring the impact 
of the implementation of our 
workforce policies on our staff 
to ensure that we are proactively 
identifying and addressing any 
inequalities.

We value diversity, and aim 
to support protected groups 
and recognise that in order to 
remove the barriers experienced 
by disabled people, we need to 
make reasonable adjustments for 
our disabled employees. We do 
this on a case by case basis and 
involve occupational health services 
as appropriate. Reference to 
reasonable adjustments is made in 
all relevant polices.

Public Sector Equality Duty
In line with the specific duties of 
the Equality Act 2010, we publish 
a number of documents each 
year to demonstrate the range of 
ways in which we are eliminating 
discrimination, advancing equality 
of opportunity and fostering good 
relations between different groups. 

Our Public Sector Equality Duty 
Report considers the protected 
characteristics and the impact 
membership of these groups 
may have on patients and the 
public access, experience and 
outcomes within NHS services. 
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The local population is described 
using information from the 2011 
Census, where available and 
health inequalities outlined from 
local, national and regional data. 
In addition, patient experience 
data has been commissioned from 
Public Health England and collated 
from national surveys. The equality 
data available has been pooled 
across West Yorkshire to create a 
statistically significant sample.

In 2013 we agreed to sign up to 
the four city wide NHS equality 
objectives and work with all NHS 
organisations in Leeds to improve 
performance. Each year we provide 
a performance update on our 
progress in relation to the equality 
objectives and identify priorities for 
the following year.

NHS Equality Delivery System
The Equality Delivery System 
(EDS) is a toolkit that helps NHS 
organisations improve the services 
they commission or provide for 
their local communities. It helps 

consider health inequalities in 
their locality and provide better 
working environments, free of 
discrimination, for those who 
work in the NHS. It is based 
on four goals, with 18 specific 
outcomes. As part of the EDS 
process, NHS organisations engage 
with their patients, local voluntary 
organisations and their staff in 
order to grade their equality 
performance, identify where 
improvements can be made and act 
on their findings. Our evidence and 
assessment for 2014 showed that 
we had made excellent progress, 
with many of 18 outcomes moving 
from amber to green. Evidence was 
presented at our annual Leeds NHS 
Assessment Panel event, attended 
by our partners and local interests 
where final grades were agreed. 
During 2015-16 we will be working 
towards continually improving our 
performance and outcomes in 
relation to equality.

2.7.3 Organisational 
development
We invested in a Business 
Development Team in April 
2014, which has delivered 
significant progress against our 
Organisational Development plan 
this year. The highlights of which 
can be found below:

We feel passionately about the 
development of all our employees. 
The importance of personal 
and professional development 
is inherent throughout our 
Organisational Development Plan 
with emphasis on the need to 
equip all staff with the skills and 
confidence to enable the delivery of 
high quality services based on the 
needs of local people and within 
the resources available.

We pride ourselves on being an 
organisation that constantly looks 
to grow and develop new and 
innovative ways of working. As 
such we encourage and actively 
promote any opportunity for 
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employees to develop and acquire 
new skills by providing access to 
education and training. 

The Business Development Team 
recently developed a Training 
and Development catalogue 
that is unique to the CCG and is 
accessible to all staff, firmly linked 
to our core values and behaviours. 
Based on appraisal learning and 
development conversations with 
their line manager, employees 
can use the Leeds North 
Development Catalogue to identify 
any professional or personal 
development needs they may have. 
The catalogue is structured in a way 
that encourages staff to explore 
areas of development within the 
seven core behaviours endorsed 
by the CCG, derived from our 
values and outlined in the appraisal 
documentation.

We contract with a number 
of GP and Clinical Leads. The 
Business Development Team 
supports GP leads with both 
managerial delivery and learning 
and development activities. 

Opportunities are routinely 
identified and highlighted to 
develop the commissioning 
skills with our relatively new GP 
Portfolio leads; who lead on a 
portfolio of work.

Most recently all Clinical Leads 
and Senior Managers have had 
the opportunity to participate in 
a Professional Leadership Course 
with a 360 feedback element 
which aims to develop a greater 
understanding of personal 
leadership styles and how this fits 
with the wider dynamics of the 
organisation. We fully recognise the 
need to offer the development of 
leadership skills and management 
styles so leaders can be effective 
and efficient within their lead work 
areas. As a result of attending this 
programme, each has had the 
opportunity to gain an insight into 
their strengths and weaknesses, 
identify specific development 
needs, gain an increased self-
awareness and most importantly 
offer an opportunity to reflect on 
and analyse their own leadership to 
succeed within their role. 

A number of senior managers 
and clinicians have very recently 
attended a trip to the Jonkoping 
Microsystems Festival on Integration 
to explore new, innovative ways of 
working in our complex healthcare 
system, based on learning from 
delegates attending from across 
the world. We recognised how 
vital it was for our leaders to take 
up such a unique opportunity to 
learn what healthcare professionals 
are doing world-wide. Those who 
went were privileged to meet 
other professionals and share 
perspectives, best practice and 
practical experience of what works 
well with regard to providing 
integrated healthcare services. The 
learning brought back from this will 
directly feed into the Integration 
work going on within Primary Care 
across the CCG while ensuring 
the messages and learning gained 
is spread through a number of 
different forums. These include our 
Council of Members and Primary 
Care Locality meetings, ensuring 
all clinicians benefit from the 
knowledge and learning acquired. 
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The organisation is currently 
undergoing the Investors in 
Excellence programme which 
supports the development of the 
organisation to ensure that all of 
our activities and processes align to 
the things which matter most (our 
strategic aims). Our aim is to achieve 
the standard by November 2015.

We are also taking part in a 
research project conducted by 
Bradford University. This research 
focuses on the Leadership, 
Governance and Managerial 
Behaviour of CCGs.

2.7.4 Health and safety 
The CCG is committed to 
protecting the health, safety and 
welfare of its employees and others 
who are affected by our activities. 
The CCG carried out its annual 
health and safety risk assessment 
in May 2014. Our Health and 
Safety Policy is based on a template 
published by the Health and 
Safety Executive and sets out the 
CCG’s commitment to preventing 
accidents and cases of work-related 
ill health and providing adequate 
control of health and safety risks.
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Leeds North CCG continues 
to place quality at the core 
of all its functions and 
commissioning practice, and at 
the centre of all our discussions 
with providers. We do this by 
making our expectations clear 
and measurable, and then 
monitoring these standards 
closely.

There are five elements which drive 
the quality team’s work: 

•  Patient safety

•  Patient experience 

•  Clinical effectiveness

•  Responsiveness

•  Being well-led

Organisations from which we 
commission care are required to 
meet essential standards of quality 
and safety as defined through 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

standards. As commissioners we 
set out quality requirements for 
our providers that are above the 
essential requirements defined by 
the CQC. We work closely with 
our acute, mental health and 
community services to ensure that 
they meet these requirements and 
standards and we monitor them 
throughout the year, providing 
challenge where standards are not 
as expected or required.

To drive our quality agenda we 
have developed a Quality Strategy 
which sets out the process and 
mechanisms by which we assure 
ourselves of the quality of care that 
we commission, in support of the 
above domains. We have agreed 
the strategy in conjunction with 
partner CCGs in Leeds and will 
publish it on our website.

Our Quality and Safety Committee 
has established robust terms of 
reference and a standing agenda to 
ensure that all quality issues across 

the health economy in Leeds have 
the appropriate oversight. Quality 
updates are also provided for the 
Board ensuring that at the highest 
level within the CCG, quality 
receives the attention and scrutiny 
required to give assurance.

Key programmes undertaken in 
2014-15 included:

•  Working closely with Adult 
Social Care partners, Yorkshire 
Ambulance Service and urgent 
care, primary care, care homes, 
contracting teams and medicine 
management to scope the care 
home quality agenda.

•  Developing and implementing 
a schedule of programed visits 
with providers across the city 
to maintain an overview of 
the quality standards in all key 
provider organisations. We 
speak to patients, managers and 
staff as well as reviewing the 
care provided.

2.8 Quality
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•  Reviewing all serious incidents 
and ‘never events’ with providers 
to ensure that learning is 
identified and shared to prevent 
recurrence. We held a ‘challenge 
event’ in May with Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals

•  Holding a workshop for our 
Board to explore the themes 
of quality and the various 
mechanisms that we use to 
ensure that patients are receiving 
safe, effective care that meets 
their expectations.

Patient safety
We undertook extensive reviews 
of key patient safety publications 
including the Francis Report, 
Bruce Keogh, Don Berwick, Jane 
Cummings and the Jimmy Savile 
enquiry. This work focused on our 
responsibilities, development of a 
professional standards action plan, 
clear responsible executive and 
managerial leads and monitoring 
processes. This was further sense 
checked against the government’s 
publication in February 2014 of 
CCG responsibilities.

Healthcare Associated Infections

Clostridium Difficile
We have continued to work with 
provider and primary care colleagues 
to reduce the numbers of cases of 
Clostridium Difficile across the CCG 
and city. In 2014-15 there were 58 
cases for Leeds North patients, a 
reduction from 63 in 2013-14. In 
doing so we remained well within 
the NHS England threshold. We 
continue to work with the acute 
Trust, our medicine management 
team and primary care colleagues in 
implementing strategies to further 
reduce the incidence of C. Difficile. 
This includes reducing inappropriate 
antibiotic prescribing which is linked 
with C.Difficile infection. 

MRSA
There were three cases of MRSA 
infection for Leeds North patients, 
(all of which were attributed to 
services provided within our acute 
trust) one less than the total in 
2013-14. We continue to work 
with our colleagues across the city 
in the investigation of each case to 
ensure that the root causes of the 
infection are identified and lessons 
learned are applied.

Infection control in care homes
We recognise that infection control 
practice in particular with regard 
to catheter care varies across the 
numerous care homes in Leeds 
North and that this can present 
a higher risk to this group of 
patients. In partnership with Leeds 
South and East CCG, we have 
commissioned a project nurse, who 
is employed by Leeds Community 
Health Care, to educate and 
support care home staff to improve 
individualized quality care and 
standardize practice

Harm-free care
Our main providers are required 
to conduct a monthly audit of all 
patients for prevalence of the four 
most common types of harm:

•  Falls

•  Pressure ulcers

•  Catheter-acquired urinary tract 
infections 

•  Venous thrombo-embolisms 
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In January 2015 Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust provided 
over 94% harm-free care, an 
improvement on last year and 
above the national average.

Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust are piloting the 
Mental Health Safety Thermometer 
with the aim of rolling it out 
across all their services in 2015-
16. This tool audits harm more 
appropriate to a mental health 
setting and includes incidents of 
self-harm, how safe patients feel, 
any occurrences of violence and 
aggression and whether restraint 
has had to be deployed.

Patient experience
Following the introduction in acute 
hospitals a year earlier, the National 
Friends and Family Test was rolled 
out in 2014-15 to Community, 
Mental Health, Ambulance trusts 
and GP practices. We are working 
closely with colleagues across the 
city to develop a patient experience 
feedback process to support the 
triangulation of key sources of 

patient experience data. We are 
receiving valuable information from 
patients and professional on their 
views of care provided, which we 
use in our assessments of quality.

Clinical effectiveness 
We have developed close working 
relationships with healthcare 
providers to ensure quality 
commitments are open, transparent 
and being actioned. For example:

•  Implementation of NICE guidance.

•  Action required following Care 
Quality Commission inspections.

•  Monitoring the quality of 
urgent care services provided by 
Yorkshire Ambulance Service 
NHS Trust. 

Care Quality Commission  
(CQC) visits
The CQC has visited each of our 
three main providers under its new 
comprehensive inspection regime. 
This new style of inspection and 
reporting describes the quality of 
care at the provider based on a 
combination of the inspection, 

information from ‘Intelligent 
Monitoring’, information from 
people who use the services, the 
public and other organisations, 
including CCGs.

Inspections at Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust and Leeds and 
York Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust resulted in overall ratings of 
‘requires improvement’ for each 
provider, although the inspection 
reports also highlighted areas of 
good practice as well as areas 
where improvement was needed. 
The results for Leeds Community 
Healthcare NHS Trust have yet to 
be published. We have oversight of 
the resulting action plans for each 
of the providers and seek assurance 
on the progress made through our 
quality assurance mechanisms. We 
work positively and proactively with 
our providers with a ‘high support, 
high challenge’ approach.
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Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) in Leeds have a legal 
responsibility to ensure the 
needs of children and adults 
at risk of abuse or suffering 
abuse are addressed in all the 
work that they undertake and 
commission on behalf of the 
people of Leeds. The CCGs 
work closely with providers and 
key partner organisations to 
ensure services are effective and 
staff are able to meet the needs 
of these vulnerable individuals.

The Safeguarding Children and 
Adult team is hosted within NHS 
Leeds South and East CCG and 
provides a safeguarding service 
for both NHS Leeds West CCG 
and NHS Leeds North CCG. A 
clear line of accountability for 
safeguarding is reflected in each 
of the Leeds CCG’s governance 
arrangements with the Chief 
Officer having overall responsibility 

for Safeguarding. The Directors 
of Nursing and Quality are the 
executive leads for safeguarding; 
the Head of Safeguarding/Senior 
Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 
Children and Adults at risk 
provides strategic leadership for 
safeguarding across the health 
agencies with the Designated Nurse 
for Safeguarding Children and 
Designated Nurse for Adults/lead 
for Mental Capacity Act providing 
support and expert advice to health 
agencies in Leeds. The named GP 
for Safeguarding Children provides 
leadership and support within 
Primary Care.

The Safeguarding Children and 
Adults at Risk Committee meets 
bi-monthly. Membership includes 
commissioners, Designated Nurses, 
Designated Doctors, and the 
Directors of Nursing and Quality. 
The Safeguarding Committee 
reports into each CCG’s individual 
governance structure. The 
Safeguarding Committee leads 

work on behalf of Leeds CCGs 
through an agreed action plan and 
monitors compliance of agreed 
safeguarding standards through a 
performance framework.

There is a programme for 
safeguarding training in place 
for all Leeds CCG staff and 
General Practice clinical staff. 
The programme includes 
providing tailored education 
sessions accessible to GPs and 
Practice Nurses. The Leeds CCG 
Safeguarding Training Strategy 
is aligned to professional and 
statutory guidance.

The three Leeds CCGs remain 
committed to ensuring the needs 
of children and adults at risk are 
central to our work and to that 
of our health providers. Senior 
members of staff from Leeds 
CCGs are key contributors to the 
work of the Local Safeguarding 
Children Board, the Safeguarding 
Adult Board and the Safer Leeds 
Executive. The Boards have multi-

2.9 Safeguarding
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agency representation and are 
accountable for gaining assurance 
that agencies are working together 
to safeguard children and adults 
at risk from abuse, neglect and 
domestic abuse.

The Safeguarding Team works 
closely with NHS England, providing 
support and expert advice to 
colleagues in NHS England and 
contributing to the progress of 
the West Yorkshire Area Team 
forum’s action plan to improve 
safeguarding practice across the 
health economy for both children 
and adults.

The Leeds CCG Safeguarding 
Children and Adults at risk 
commissioning policy which 
includes minimum safeguarding 
standards for children and adults is 
included in all provider contracts for 
2015-2016.

The standards are monitored by the 
CCG with provider agencies.

2.9.1 Safeguarding Children
During 2014 to 2015 there 
has been a continued focus 
on strengthening of services 
available to support children and 
families within Leeds. Some key 
achievements and progress have 
been made by the partnership 
including; 

•  The ‘Early Help’ approach. 
The core of this collaborative 
approach is ‘early help’ as this 
may be needed at any point in a 
child or young person’s life and 
in Leeds practitioners seek to 
offer support quickly to reduce 
the impact of problems that may 
have already emerged.

•  The Child Sexual Exploitation 
(CSE) partnership approach to 
reduce risks of CSE to children 
and young people. The CCG 
Designated Nurse is contributing 
to the development of the multi-
agency CSE hub.

•  The ‘Think family…work family’ 
protocol was launched in June 
2015. The protocol outlines 
the need for all agencies and 
their workers to identify and 
respond appropriately to the 
needs of all members of a family 
unit. It recognises the impact of 
certain vulnerabilities within a 
family and the potential impact 
on individual family members 
in relation to their safety 
and welfare, especially when 
parenting capacity is affected. 
These identified vulnerabilities 
are Domestic Abuse, Parental 
Mental Health, Parental Learning 
Disability and Substance Misuse.

•  These protocols are available on 
the Leeds Local Safeguarding 
Children Board (LSCB) website. 
http://www.leedslscb.org.uk/
About-us/Policy-and-procedures 
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The Leeds CCGs and the three 
key health providers undertake 
an annual audit of safeguarding 
standards through the Section11 
Audit (Children Act 2004). This 
process is co-ordinated by the LSCB 
and allows individual organisations 
to monitor progress against defined 
standards. NHS Leeds North CCG 
is able to demonstrate 90% 
compliance with the standards 
and is working to progress to full 
compliance. An area for action 
is how to ensure children and 
young people have access to the 
complaints policy. Work is ongoing 
to ensure compliance is achieved.

During the past year in Leeds there 
have been no new serious case 
reviews (SCR) commissioned for 
children and one SCR case, Child Y, 
completed. The report for Child Y 
was published on the LSCB website 
in January 2015. SCR are a statutory 
requirement, led by the LSCB and 
undertaken when there is a death 
or serious injury to a child or young 
person where abuse is thought to 
be a contributory factor.

The learning from the completed 
review has been fed back to 
relevant staff groups and is being 
used to improve the commissioning 
and delivery of services. 

In addition, two local learning 
lessons reviews (LLR) have been 
completed. The CCG Safeguarding 
Team has contributed to work on 
both the SCR and the LLRs. 

The CCGs have in place the 
expertise of designated doctors and 
nurses for safeguarding children 
and for looked after children and 
a designated paediatrician for 
unexpected deaths in childhood.

Eighty-eight general practices in 
Leeds have identified a lead for 
safeguarding children. The leads 
for safeguarding within the general 
practices are invited to attend 
quarterly safeguarding meetings 
facilitated by the CCG’s Named GP 
for Safeguarding Children, a range 
of safeguarding topics are discussed 
and peer supervision is provided. 
The Named GP is supporting all 
GP practices to identify a lead for 
safeguarding within their practices.

During January and February 2015 
Ofsted carried out their four week 
inspection of services for children 
in need of help and protection, 
children looked after and care 
leavers; and the effectiveness of 
partnership working, including 
an inspection of the Leeds 
Safeguarding Children Board. 

2.9.2 Safeguarding Adults
A continued increase in the 
numbers of applications in hospitals 
for Mental Capacity Act and 
Deprivation of Liberty safeguards 
demonstrates awareness by 
partners and providers of services.

In addition, the most recent 
national comparison reports 
identified Leeds had the highest 
use of Independent Mental 
Capacity Advocates (IMCAs) in the 
country during 2012-13. IMCAs 
provide additional support and 
representation for people who 
lack mental capacity in relation to 
certain important decisions. 
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The Leeds Safeguarding Adult 
Board (SAB) has undergone a Peer 
Review by the Local Government 
Association in November 2014. 
The recommendations of the 
review are being considered and 
implemented by the SAB. The 
Leeds CCGs are represented at 
the SAB by the Director of Nursing 
and Quality for Leeds North and 
the Senior Designated Nurse. 
Some key partnership progress 
and achievements for 2014-2015 
include:

Prevention of Abuse Campaign
Leeds Safeguarding Adults Board 
first Prevention of Abuse campaign 
was launched on 21st July 2014 
and ran throughout the summer. 
The campaign was aimed at raising 
the profile of Safeguarding Adults 
in Leeds, the caption of “doing 
nothing is not an option” was 
used. The campaign evaluated well.

The Care Act gained Royal 
Ascension in 2014 and will come 
into force on 5th April 2015. The 
SAB partnership have considered 
the key priorities for the partnership 
to ensure compliance with the Care 
Act is progressed. One of the key 
priorities for the partnership is to 
define an agreed understanding 
across the partnership of what 
constitutes a safeguarding concern. 

Two multi agency Safeguarding 
Adult Reviews commenced in 
2013-2014 and a further three 
reviews are progressing. This 
process is led by the SAB and 
learning from the reviews will be 
used to learn and improve the care 
provided to adults at risk.

There are ten ongoing domestic 
homicide investigations in Leeds. 
Leeds CCGs have contributed 
to the domestic homicide 
reviews and continue to work in 
partnership with the Safer Leeds 
Executive to ensure lessons are 
shared and recommendations 
from the reviews are implemented 
into practice to improve services 
for adults experiencing or at risk 
of domestic abuse.

A project to review the model 
of working at the ‘front door’ 
for Adult Social Care and 
children social work services was 
commenced in 2014 and progress 
is being made as staff from children 
and adult social care, police and 
health are co-located. The initial 
focus will be to promote a multi-
agency assessment and response to 
domestic abuse incidents.
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Some key challenges for the CCGs 
safeguarding for 2015-2016 include:

•  Promote and support GPs 
engagement with the child 
protection process.

•  Support the Domestic Violence 
agenda across the health 
economy specifically supporting 
GPs to recognise and respond 
appropriately to domestic abuse 
and carer strain.

•  Manage the expanding field 
of safeguarding including 
terrorism (Prevent Agenda), 
human trafficking, child sexual 
exploitation, forced marriage and 
female genital mutilation.

•  Supporting and embedding the 
‘Early Help’ approach across the 
health economy. 

•  Embedding the ‘Think Family’ 
guidance.

•  Review the Care Act 2014 and 
the implications for the health 
economy.

•  Support health agencies 
in preparation for external 
inspections and reviews.
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2.10 Serious Incidents, never events and complaints

2.10.1 Serious incidents
The CCGs Governance Team 
receives notification of Serious 
Incidents from all providers of 
healthcare in Leeds. The team 
is responsible for risk assessing 
any immediate impact on the 
organisation and informing directors 
of what has happened. The provider 
organisation is then monitored 
for reporting, investigating and 
learning from the incident. In 2014-
15 a total number of 239 serious 
incidents have been reported to 
the CCG involving patients from 
Leeds, and 128 out of 239 were 
Pressure Ulcers Category 3 or 4. The 
CCG serious incident review panel 
is tasked with reviewing submitted 
reports and action plans from the 
providers. This is to assure the CCG 
that the provider concerned has 
undertaken a robust investigation, 
identified the reasons for the 
incident occurring and put in place 
actions to prevent something similar 
from happening again.

2.10.2 Never Events
Certain types of serious incident are 
termed ‘Never Events.’ These are 
incident types that, if the necessary 
safety systems are in place and 
operating effectively, are expected 
not to occur. Never Events are 
nationally defined and most apply 
primarily to acute hospital care. 
These types of incident are subject 
to further detailed scrutiny from 
the CCG and in some instances 
providers are penalised when they 
occur. There were 6 Never Events 
during 2014-15 which included 
two Retained Surgical Instrument/
swab incidents and four Wrong Site 
Surgery incidents. These are city 
wide figures, with none affecting 
Leeds North patients.

The CCG has worked with the 
provider focussing on systems and 
processes in operating theatres 
across the Trust to ensure learning 
from the incident investigations 
is introduced and embedded in 
practice. In addition a significant 
project on a national level has been 
commissioned by NHS England in 
response to the number of retained 
surgical instrument incidents that 
have occurred nationally. This is the 
most commonly reported Never 
Event in the NHS.

The following table describes the 
Never Events that affected Leeds 
residents:

Provider Never Event Type

Spire Methley  
Park Hospital

Retained surgical 
instrument/swab x1

Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust

Wrong site  
surgery x3
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Provider CCG Never Event Type

Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust

NHS Bradford 
Districts CCG

Wrong site  
surgery x1

Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust

NHS Bradford 
Districts CCG

Retained surgical 
instrument/swab x1

The following table describes the 
Never Events that occurred within 
Leeds healthcare providers but 
affected residents of other CCGs 
outside Leeds: 

2.10.3 Complaints
The CCG manages complaints 
about our work in accordance 
both with NHS complaints 
procedures and the health service 
ombudsman’s principles for remedy.

In 2014-15 we managed 22 formal 
complaints from local people. 17 
of these related to services from 
our providers. The remaining 5 
related directly to the CCG. As 
well as responding to individual 
complainants, all lessons learned 
from complaints are reviewed to 
determine whether we need to 
make any changes in practice, 
systems and processes.

The CCG follows the following 
principles for good complaint 
handling

1. Getting it right.
Our Board has approved  
the Complaints Policy.

2. Being customer focused. 
All complaints are dealt with on 
an individual basis involving the 
method of choice of the person 
making the complaint. 

3. Being open and accountable.
Information on our complaints 
function is available on our website 
and in leaflets distributed in 
healthcare locations across the city. 

4. Acting fairly and 
proportionately. 
All complaints are investigated 
using an approach that best suits 
the particular concern. 

5. Putting things right. 
We strive in the first instance, to 
put things right for the patient as 
soon as we are aware of a concern.

6. Seeking continuous 
improvement.
All complaints are reviewed for 
wider learning that we can adopt 
to improve our services.
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FOI requests
Received

Total completed 
within 20 days

Total completed 
over 20 days

April 17 17 0

May 25 24 1

June 21 21 0

July 14 14 0

August 11 11 0

September 27 27 0

October 17 17 0

November 10 10 0

December 19 19 0

January 19 19 0

February 16 16 0

March 16 16 0

Actual YTD  
Position Totals

212 211  1

The CCG has complied with HM Treasury’s guidance on 
cost allocation and the setting of charges for information.

2.10.4 The Freedom of 
Information Act
We are committed to being open 
and transparent. This includes 
meeting the statutory requirements 
of the Freedom of Information (FOI) 
Act. The FOI imposes a duty on every 
public body to produce and regularly 
maintain a publication scheme.  In 
December 2014 we adopted the 
Information Commissioners Office’s 
(ICO) model for health bodies. The 
aim of the publication scheme is to 
increase openness and transparency 
about what we do, what we spend, 
our priorities, decisions and policies.  
It also aims to make it easier for 
members of the public to find and 
obtain the information they require 
without having to make a written 
request. Our publication scheme can 
be found here:

http://www.leedsnorthccg.nhs.
uk/about-us/nhs-leeds-north-
publication-scheme.htm

We also work hard to make 
sure that any requests under the 
Freedom of Information Act are 
responded to within the mandatory 
20 working days. In the last year we 

received 212 requests – up from 194 
in the previous year.  We consistently 
met the target of responding to 
requests within 20 days, with only 1 
breach during the year:
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We have a stated commitment 
to embed environmental 
and social sustainability in 
all that we do, for example 
challenging and supporting 
providers to increase social 
value in the services they 
deliver, buying locally and 
ethically, embracing new 
technology and supporting 
local employment and training 
opportunities. 

This year we have placed much 
more emphasis on commissioning: 
how we design services, work 
with our providers and measure 
the impact of our sustainable 
development activity. 

We have also taken a lead among 
CCGs on Social Value, participating 
in an innovative national 
programme that looks at health 
and social value in a city-wide 
context. Across the three CCGs 
we developed a research project 
to identify where changes could 
be made within a commissioning 
cycle to improve environmental and 
social outcomes. 

Reducing our energy use
Overall we have reduced our CO2 
emissions by 15% through better 
building management and raising 
staff awareness. 

By optimising our building settings 
we have brought our over-use 
of gas back close to a standard 
benchmark level – reducing gas  
use by 37%. 

Although we have made significant 
improvements, there is still more 
we can do, for example our 
electricity use rose by 4%. We 
aim to continue to make energy 
reductions year on year. 

We have developed a Sustainable 
Travel Plan in partnership with 
Leeds West CCG, Leeds South and 
East CCG and our Commissioning 
Support Unit. One of the 
approaches is to make more use of 
technology to communicate and 
meet, eg video conferencing.

2.11 Our Commitment to sustainability
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Change in Use Change in Emissions

Item Unit
2013 2014 2013 2014

Units Total CO2 Emissions (Tonnes)

Electricity use KWh 38789 40260 21.72 24.93

Gas use KWh 151849 95580 32.21 20.05

Travel by car Miles 14903 14081 5.51 5.17

Travel by rail Miles 9906 18802 0.92 1.70

General waste Tonnes 1.6 0.8 0.35 0.17

Recyclable waste Tonnes 0.2 0.7 0.00 0.01

Total CO2 Emissions 60.71 52.04

Total CO2 Reduction -14.7%

Su
m

m
ar

y

Nigel Gray 
Accountable Officer

May 2015
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3. Members Report
3.1 Council of Members

The CCG is a membership 
organisation, run in partnership 
with our 28 member practices  
each represented on our 
Council of Members.

We are the only Leeds CCG to have 
a Council of Members as our core 
decision-making body. The Council 
consists of representatives from 
each of our member GP practices. 
This union of GP practices ensures 
that clinical participation is at the 
heart of everything the CCG does. 
The member practices make sure 
that they are representing the best 
interests of their patients as well 
as the wider communities in which 
they are located.

Our Council of Members has 
been developed as part of our 
governance structure, building 
upon the roots we set down 
when we were a practice based 
commissioning group. The Council 
meets on a bi-monthly basis, to 
hold the Board to account and 
to help determine the strategic 
direction of the CCG. A chair and 
deputy chair have been elected to 
lead the group.

The role of the Council of Members 
is to:

•  Be the voice of members and to 
facilitate effective engagement 
of all member practices in the 
development and operation of 
the CCG

•  Ensure Members are informed 
and empowered to participate

•  Seek advice and views of the 
practice members of the CCG

•  Ensure a culture of continually 
improving services for patients 
and carers

•  Hold the Board, elected Clinical 
Leadership Team and Executive 
to account

•  Oversee amendments to the 
constitution and any change of 
CCG name

•  Represent the interest and 
statutory responsibilities of 
the practices

•  Receive the annual accounts

•  Approve the annual plan

Council meetings consist of 
workshop sessions, at which 
members have the opportunity to 
discuss key issues affecting their 
localities and patients, and a formal 
meeting at which key decisions are 
made, for example the approval of 
changes to the constitution. 

The effectiveness of Council 
meetings in engaging with 
clinicians is demonstrated by 
the consistently high level of 
attendance of member practices.
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We currently have 28 member 
practices. At the start of the 
year there were 29 practices, 
but two practices* merged  
in January 2015.

Aireborough Family Practice

Allerton Medical Centre

Bramham Medical Centre

Chapeltown Family Surgery

Charles Street Surgery*

Chevin Medical Centre*

Church View Surgery 

Crossley Street Surgery

Foundry Lane Surgery

Leeds Private Doctors

Meanwood Group Practice

Moorcroft Surgery

Newton Surgery

North Leeds Medical Practice

Nursery Lane Surgery

Oakwood Lane Medical Practice

Oakwood Surgery

One Medicare – Hilton Road

One Medicare – The Light

Rutland Lodge Medical Practice

Shadwell Medical Centre

Spa Surgery

St Martins Practice

Street Lane Practice

The Surgery at Nursery Lane 
and Adel 

Westfield Medical Centre

Westgate Surgery

Wetherby Surgery

Woodhouse Health Centre

3.2 Our Member Practices 

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report
3.1 Council of Members
3.2 Our Member Practices
3.3 Our Board
3.4 The effectiveness of our Board
3.5 Register of Board members’ interests
3.6 Audit Committee
3.7 Remuneration Committee
3.8 Other Committees
3.9 Our Governance Structure
3.10 Our Partners
3.11 Patient and Public Involvement

4.  Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



54 NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

Jason is a GP at Oakwood Lane Medical Practice and 
Chair of NHS Leeds North CCG.

As clinical lead, he also Chairs the Leeds Informatics 
Board, developing and delivering the Leeds Integrated 
Informatics strategy across the Leeds Health and Social 
Care Economy. Jason is Co-Chair of the Integrated 
Commissioning Executive in Leeds, which is a joint 
committee between the NHS and Local Authority 
overseeing the integration agenda and ‘Better 

Care Fund’ initiatives. As part of his role, Jason also sits on the Leeds 
Health & Wellbeing Board and represents the Leeds NHS on the Leeds 
Innovation Health Hub Executive, working on Health informatics as a 
driver for inward investment in Leeds. Jason is the Chair of the Leeds 
Strategic Urgent Care Board, as part the Leeds Health and Social Care 
Transformation Programme.

Currently, Jason is a member of the NHS Commissioning Assembly 
Steering group, which brings a local clinical voice into NHS England’s 
decision-making processes and strategy setting.

Jason was born in Leeds and after training in Manchester Medical School, 
settled back in Leeds, where he lives with his wife and two children. 

Jason has several voluntary roles. He is currently Chair of the governing 
body for Brodetsky Primary School, a governor for Leeds Jewish Free 
School and a Trustee for Donisthorpe Hall, a charitable care home.

Previously, Jason worked for NHS Leeds Primary Care Trust as lead 
clinician for GP Appraisal and Revalidation, helping develop the Yorkshire 
& Humber appraiser training course. He has experience in commercial 
property, developing SMEs and businesses in the finance industry.

3.3 Our Board

Working in partnership with 
the Council of Members is 
the Board, which has overall 
responsibility for ensuring that 
the CCG has arrangements 
in place to exercise its 
functions effectively, efficiently 
and economically and in 
accordance with the principles 
of good governance. It meets 
monthly, and includes a mix 
of experienced NHS clinicians, 
managers and lay members. 

The members of the Board during 
2014-15 were:

Dr. Jason Broch  
GP and Clinical Chair
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Martin joined the NHS in 1990 
having previously worked in the 
banking sector. He became a Fellow 
of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants having 
qualified in 1996 and spent the early 
part of his NHS career primarily in 
Wakefield. Martin has held senior 
finance positions in Leeds since 

2003 when he joined Leeds North West PCT as Deputy 
Director of Finance.

Martin has operated as Chief Financial Officer for NHS 
Leeds North CCG since its formation.

Role of the Chief Financial Officer
•  Responsibility for the financial strategy, financial 

management and financial governance of the CCG; 

•  Produce the financial statements for audit and 
publication in accordance with statutory requirements 
to demonstrate effective stewardship of public money 
and accountability to tax payers.

Nigel has worked in the NHS since 
qualifying as a Registered General 
Nurse at Leeds General Infirmary in 
1985. He then went on to obtain 
a BA in health and social care 
management and has worked as 
a professional manager and leader 
in both provider and commissioner 
organisations.

Nigel is Chief Officer for NHS Leeds North CCG where 
he plays an integral role in the continual development 
of our organisation – leading commissioning in the 
north of the city.

Role of the Chief Officer
•  Being responsible for ensuring that the CCG fulfils its 

duties to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently 
and economically; 

•  Ensuring improvement in the quality of services and 
the health of the local population whilst maintaining 
value for money; 

•  Working closely with the chair of the Board, the 
Chief Officer will ensure that proper constitutional, 
governance and development arrangements are put 
in place to assure the members (through the Board) 
of the organisation’s on-going capability and capacity 
to meet its duties and responsibilities.

Nigel Gray  
Chief Officer

Martin Wright  
Chief Financial Officer
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Manjit qualified 
from Dundee 
University in 
1993 and initially 
entered a career 
in psychiatry. He 
undertook his 
GP training in 
1997 and moved 

to Leeds two years later where he 
has been a practising GP ever since.

Manjit has been a partner at the 
North Leeds Medical Practice since 
2003 and has been involved in 
practice-based commissioning since 
its inception. He was the finance 
lead for Calibre Commissioning 
Group and then took the role as 
clinical director for NHS Leeds North 
Clinical Commissioning Group

The role of the Clinical Director
•  Be a doctor who is a primary care 

GP from a member practice; 

•  Ensure Leadership and act and 
assume responsibility as the 
Caldecott Guardian; 

•  Be able to provide vision, direction 
and leadership to enable the CCG 
to speak and act corporately to 
achieve its strategic goals and 
objectives.

Ellie trained as a Registered General Nurse at Derby 
School of Nursing, becoming Derby University and 
qualified in 1995. Ellie started her early nursing career 
working in Trauma and Orthopedics and General 
Surgery, before specialising in Nutrition, working as 
a Nutrition Nurse specialist in the private sector and 
then in a large acute trust. Since then Ellie has had the 
opportunity to develop her career leading to work as 
a Matron in Urgent care and Emergency Assessment. 

Ellie has led service redesign, service reconfigurations, organisational 
development and medical education. It is through this work that she 
became involved and interested in quality within the NHS. 

Ellie has a strong interest and background in quality and patient safety, as 
well as having experience as both a nurse, and a manager. Ellie works full-
time in the role, which is a joint appointment with NHS Leeds South and 
East Clinical Commissioning Group. This dual responsibility provides added 
value by promoting joint working with the two CCGs. 

The role of the Director of Quality and Nursing
•  Be a registered nurse who has developed a high level of professional 

expertise and knowledge; 

•  To ensure high visibility and professional Leadership of Practice Nursing 
as part of the ongoing development; 

•  Be able to take a balanced view of the clinical and management agenda 
and draw on their specialist skills to add value; 

•  City wide Lead Exec role for Safeguarding from April 2013; portfolio 
includes Quality, Patient Safety and Experience, as well as developing 
Professional standards across the nursing profession.

Dr. Manjit Purewal  
GP and Clinical Director

Ellie Monkhouse  
Director of Nursing and Quality
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Liane joined the NHS in 1998 as a graduate trainee 
and has worked in and around health and social care 
ever since. She has held a variety of roles, including; 
finance, service re-design, strategy, public health, 
governance, organisational development, informatics 
and commissioning. She has worked in provider, 
commissioner and oversight organisations and is 
passionate about creating systems which work and 
deliver high quality care for the people of Leeds.

Liane has a degree, a post graduate diploma in management and an 
MBA. After working in the south for a number of years, Liane returned to 
Leeds in 2004 and does not intend to leave again.

Liane took up her current role at NHS Leeds North CCG in June 2013 as 
Director of Commissioning and Strategic Development and is enjoying 
the varied challenges which a board role brings. She leads mental health, 
learning disabilities and urgent care city wide.

The role of the Director of the Director of Commissioning and 
Strategic Development.
•  To ensure the organisation has a clear strategic plan to deliver the best 

quality services for the people of the north Leeds area.

•  To ensure the delivery of our strategic plan through effective 
commissioning and monitoring systems.

•  Key role in leading commissioning for the three CCG’s in Leeds – these 
services are  mental health, urgent care, learning disability 
and dementia.

•  To ensure the organisational development of the CCG.

Liane Langdon  
Commissioning and Strategic Development Director

Mark is a 
Consultant 
in General 
Medicine, 
Diabetes and 
Endocrinology 
based at Mid 
Yorkshire 
Hospitals NHS 

Trust where he was appointed 
in 2002. He was born in Leeds 
and lives in north Leeds with his 
wife and daughters. He qualified 
at University College Hospital in 
London before moving back to 
Leeds where he completed his  
basic and specialist training.

Role of the secondary care 
consultant
•  being responsible for challenge 

and assurance from an acute 
provider perspective; 

•  to add balance and equity to the 
CCG Board’s interpretation of 
priority areas; 

•  Work with the other clinicians on 
the Board and act as a link between 
GP colleagues and secondary care 
clinicians to improve services 
for patients.

Dr. Mark Freeman  
Secondary Care Consultant
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Simon is a 
partner at 
Westgate 
Surgery, Otley. 
He trained 
at Leeds and 
undertook 
GP training 
in Doncaster. 

Simon spent two years working as 
a GP locum on the Chatham Islands 
in New Zealand with his wife Jane 
who is also a GP. On their return 
to the UK, Simon joined a rural 
practice in East Yorkshire and, after 
nine years, moved to a practice in 
Otley in 1998.

Dr. Simon Robinson  
GP Non-executive Director

Nick qualified in 1981 and worked as a doctor in 
Cambridge and Northwick Park before taking a five 
year break as a singer in the close harmony quartet 
Cantabile working in the West End and touring 
Europe. He then joined the BBC and worked for two 
years on Tomorrow’s World followed by six years as 
features producer for BBC Scotland and then six years 
jointly setting up an independent production company 
working for ITV BBC and Channel 4. In 2001 Nick 

returned to the NHS, firstly as a doctor at St James Hospital, and then 
training as a GP in Northumbria. In 2006 he took up his current post as 
lead GP at Wetherby which is now part of the One Medicare Group. 

Role of the GP Non-Executive Director
•  ensure their practice is fully engaged with Leeds North CCG by leading 

the commissioning agenda within their practice; 

•  ensure that the interests of patients and the community remain at the 
heart of the CCG’s decisions; 

•  relay practice concerns on provider quality issues back to the CCG; 

•  engage in specific pathway redevelopments, providing insight and 
feedback as appropriate.

Dr. Nick Ibbotson  
GP Non-executive Director
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Petra Morgan  
Management Executive

Petra has 
been General 
Manager at 
Street Lane 
Practice since 
2000 following 
a number of 
years working 
in the leisure 

industry. She has been part of 
Calibre Health Partnership since it 
formed in 2006.

Petra has always been involved with 
service improvement and innovation 
at practice level. Her work at 
NHS Leeds North CCG has been 
operationally focused to ensure that 
the organisation can facilitate and 
support primary care in delivering 
better care for patients.

The role of the practice manager 
representative
•  To ensure Practice Management 

involvement in key workstream 
development; 

•  To link the micro and macro 
commissioning agenda; 

•  To work alongside the CCG 
Locality Team to deliver the key 
local priorities linked to the wider 
CCG priorities.

Lucy Jackson is a Consultant in Public Health at 
Leeds City Council, who works for the CCG under 
a Memorandum Of Understanding. She has over 20 
years public health experience within the NHS and has 
been working in Leeds since 1992. Her current role is 
Public Lead for NHS Leeds North CCG and for the East 
North East Area of Leeds. 

Lucy is also the citywide public health lead for long 
term-conditions and older people. She has a strong 

commitment to addressing inequalities in health and a belief in the 
importance of everyone’s role within this.

Role of the public health consultant lead
Build from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment to develop a clear vision 
and understanding of population health needs; 

•  Ensure the CCG and constituent practices develop evidence based care 
pathways; ensuring equity of access 

•  Provide population healthcare advice to the CCG 

•  Ensure joint working with key partners to address local needs 

•  Public health lead for Long Term Conditions and older people for the 
city and Integrated Health and Social Care workstream.

Lucy Jackson  
Public Health Consultant Lead

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report
3.1 Council of Members
3.2 Our Member Practices
3.3 Our Board
3.4 The effectiveness of our Board
3.5 Register of Board members’ interests
3.6 Audit Committee
3.7 Remuneration Committee
3.8 Other Committees
3.9 Our Governance Structure
3.10 Our Partners
3.11 Patient and Public Involvement

4.  Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



60 NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

Graham is a member of the Patient 
Reference Group at Chevin Medical 
Practice and having a long term 
health condition, is a regular user 
of local services. His sales and 
marketing, strategic planning and 
partnership working career was in 
the pharmaceutical industry. Since 
2007 he has developed further 

interests in healthcare associated with improving health 
and wellbeing. 

Graham and his wife have been Leeds residents all their 
lives and their grown-up children and grandchildren also 
live in the area.

The role of the lay member – patient and public 
involvement
•  Help to ensure that, in all aspects of the CCG’s 

business the public voice of the local population 
is heard and that opportunities are created and 
protected for patient and public empowerment  
in the work of the CCG; 

•  public and patients’ views are heard and their 
expectations understood and met as appropriate; 

•  the CCG builds and maintains an effective relationship 
with Local Healthwatch and draws on existing patient 
and public engagement and involvement expertise

Board and Clinical Leadership Team posts were due for 
re-election in 2014-15. Nominations closed in February 
and voting papers were sent out to eligible electors 
in March. The results of the election are due to be 
announced in April 2015.

Peter is currently Chief Executive 
of Beverley Building Society. 
Immediately prior to this he was 
Chief Executive for West Yorkshire 
Tourism. Peter has broad general 
management and International 
financial services experience. 
This has been gained in the UK 
(Yorkshire & Clydesdale Banks), 

Australia (National Australia Bank), New Zealand  
(Bank of New Zealand) and the USA (Michigan  
National Bank).

Peter has been a Non-Executive Director with six 
organisations and currently sits on the board of Finance 
Yorkshire Ltd. 

The role of the Lay member – governance
•  Their focus will be strategic and impartial,  

providing an external view of the work of the  
CCG that is removed from the day-to-day running  
of the organisation; 

•  To oversee key elements of governance including 
audit, remuneration and managing conflicts 
of interest; 

•  Chair the Audit Committee; 

•  A specific role in ensuring that appropriate and 
effective whistle blowing and anti-fraud systems  
are in place. 

Peter Myers 
Lay Member – Governance

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement
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3.4 The effectiveness of our Board

The Board is keen to ensure that it is as 
effective as possible. Public Board meetings are 
held in venues across the CCG area, and public 
attendance is encouraged. There is now a 
formal ‘review of the meeting’ item at the close 
of each meeting, at which opportunities for 
improvement are identified. The Board also held 
informal workshop sessions throughout the 
year, which were not in public. These explored 
performance and governance issues in detail. 

To inform its annual review of effectiveness, the Board 
has been working with Bradford University on research 
into the Leadership, Governance and Managerial 
Behaviour of CCGs. As part of the research, the Board 
underwent a 360 degree feedback process which gave 
an in-depth insight into its effectiveness. The results 
have been fed into the Board development programme 
and our ‘High Performing CCG’ programme. 

Declaration:
Each member of the Board at the time that this 
Members’ report is approved confirms:

•  So far as the member is aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the CCG’s external 
auditor is unaware; and

•  That the member has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as a member in order to make 
themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of 
that information.

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report
3.1 Council of Members
3.2 Our Member Practices
3.3 Our Board
3.4 The effectiveness of our Board
3.5 Register of Board members’ interests
3.6 Audit Committee
3.7 Remuneration Committee
3.8 Other Committees
3.9 Our Governance Structure
3.10 Our Partners
3.11 Patient and Public Involvement

4.  Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



62 NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

The Audit Committee critically reviews our 
financial reporting and internal control 
principles and ensures that an appropriate 
relationship with both internal and external 
auditors is maintained. It approves a 
comprehensive system of internal control, 
including budgetary control that underpins the 
effective, efficient and economic operation of 
the CCG. In 2014-15, the members were:

Peter Myers
Chair – Lay Member

Graham Prestwich
Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement 

Dr Nick Ibbotson
GP Non-Executive Director 

3.6 Audit Committee

The CCG maintains a register of interests, in line 
with our Declaration of Interests and Potential 
Conflicts of Interests Policy. All Board members 
are required to complete a declaration of 
interest form to identify any potential conflicts 
of interest. The register is reviewed regularly 
by the Board and the Audit Committee. The 
register can be viewed on the CCG website at; 
http://www.leedsnorthccg.nhs.uk 

In addition, before each Board and Committee 
meeting, members are required to declare any conflicts 
of interest in the agenda items for consideration, and 
these are formally recorded in the minutes.

3.5 Register of Board members’ interests
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The Remuneration Committee’s role is to advise 
and make recommendations to the Board 
on appropriate remuneration and terms of 
service for the Chief Officer and other senior 
managers/officers not on Agenda for Change 
national terms and conditions. Each member of 
the Remuneration Committee is also a member 
of the Board. In 2014-15, the members were:

Peter Myers
Chair – Lay Member – Governance 

Graham Prestwich
Lay Member – Patient and Public Involvement 

Dr Simon Robinson
GP Non-Executive Director 

Dr Jason Broch
Clinical Chair

3.7 Remuneration Committee

In addition to the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees, the Board is supported by and 
delegates specific functions to a Governance, 
Performance and Risk Committee and a Quality 
and Safety Committee.

Information about the Board and details of the 
functions and membership of all of its committees is 
included in the Annual Governance Statement, see 
Chapter 4.

3.8 Other Committees
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3.9 Governance Structure 

Stakeholders & Partners Executive Team

Board

Clinical Leadership Team
•	Elected
 – GP Chair 
 – Clinical Director
 – GP Executive x 3
 – Practice Nurse
 –  Practice Manager 

(Executive)
 – Practice Manager (PPI)

•	Appointed  
 – Chief Officer

Council of Members 
Nominated representatives 
from all 28 practices

Patient Assurance Group

Patient & Community
Reference Groups

– GP Chair
– Chief Officer
– Chief Financial Officer  
– Clinical Director
– GP Executive x 3
– Practice Nurse
– Director of Nursing and Quality
– Practice Manager (Executive)  
– Practice Manager (PPI)
– Public Health Consultant
–  Director of Commissioning  

and Strategic Development

GP Chair, Clinical Director, Chief Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Lay 
Member x2, GP Non-Executive x2, Director of Nursing and Quality, 

Director of Commissioning and Strategic Development, Practice Manager 
(Executive), Secondary Care Consultant, Public Health Consultant

Remuneration Committee 
– Lay Member x 2
– GP Non-Executive 
– GP Chair

Governance, Performance 
and Risk Committee 
– Chief Officer
– Clinical Director
– Lay Member 
– GP Non-Executive 
– Chief Financial Officer 
–  Director of Commissioning  

and Strategic Development
*Meets bi monthly

Quality and Safety Committee
– Clinical Director
– Director of Nursing and Quality 
– GP Non-Executive 
– Lay Member
– Public Health Consultant
– City wide Head of Quality
*Meets bi monthly

Audit Committee
– Lay Member x 2
– GP Non-Executive

•	In attendance as required 
 – Chief Financial Officer 
 – Internal Audit 
 – External Audit 
 – Counter Fraud
*Meets quarterly

– GP Chair 
–  Clinical 

Director 
–  Practice 

Manager 
(Executive)

– Chief Officer

Governance 
Assurance 

Team
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In the last year we have continued to 
strengthen our working relationships 
with partner organisations so that we 
can make Leeds the best city it can  
be for health and care.

3.10 Our Partners

Key partners 
LNCCG

28 Member 
Practices

Patients, 
Carers & 

the Public

Chairs of area 
committees 
(councillors)

East / North 
East Area 

Leadership 
Team

Health Lead 
(councillors)

Third 
Sector

Leeds City 
Council

Health and 
Well-being 

board

Commissioning 
Support Service

Providers – 
LTHT, LCH, 
LYPFT, YAS

Neighbouring 
CCGs

Healthwatch 
LeedsLIQH
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• Our neighbouring CCGs
We continue to have close 
working relationships with NHS 
Leeds South and East CCG and 
NHS Leeds West CCG as a unit of 
planning. We ensure we deliver 
on the common aim to develop 
high quality, safe and accessible 
citywide services for Leeds, sitting 
alongside our own individual two 
year operational plans. 

We are the citywide lead CCG for 
the commissioning of adult mental 
health and learning disability 
services, urgent and emergency 
care and informatics programme. 
We work closely with NHS Leeds 
South and East CCG who lead on 
commissioning NHS continuing 
healthcare, community services, 
children and families services, 
safeguarding and who host the 
Leeds integrated health and social 
care programme and with NHS 
Leeds West CCG who lead on 
commissioning secondary care and 
cancer screening. 

It is important that, where 
possible, we look at the 
commissioning and delivery 
of services at scale within a 
regional setting. To support 
this we are part of the Healthy 
Futures Programme. The Healthy 
Futures Programme is a part of 
the remit of the West Yorkshire 
commissioning collaborative, 
which is made up of the 10 
Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) of West Yorkshire plus 
Harrogate and Rural District CCG.

The Healthy Futures Programme 
refers to a group of initiatives 
where the commissioners are 
working collaboratively to deliver 
'Better health for all across the 
West Yorkshire region.' The priority 
services for the Healthy Futures 
Programme are cancer, paediatrics, 
stroke and urgent/emergency care. 

• Our NHS providers
We are pleased to be able to 
commission services from three 
NHS trusts in Leeds alongside 
other service providers. We lead 
on commissioning services from 
Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust, with NHS Leeds 
South and East CCG leading on 
commissioning services from 
Leeds Community Healthcare NHS 
Trust and NHS Leeds West CCG 
taking the lead on Leeds Teaching 
Hospitals NHS Trust.

Our ambulance services are provided 
by Yorkshire Ambulance NHS Trust 
who also are the provider of the 
NHS 111 service for our region. 

In addition to this we fund services 
from a number of neighbouring 
providers so that we can uphold 
the rights of our patients to choose 
where they go for treatment where 
it is appropriate to do so.
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• Community, voluntary and 
faith sector organisations.
The role of the community, 
voluntary and faith sector (often 
referred to as the third sector) is 
crucial not only for the delivery of 
services but also to provide us with 
an opportunity to engage with 
some community groups that are 
sometimes referred to as ‘seldom 
heard groups.’ 

Over the past 12 months we have 
been working with local community 
groups to run a number of 
engagement events and activities, 
including an innovative ‘Asset 
Based Engagement’ pilot scheme. 

We also work with various third 
sector organisations, particularly in 
relation to mental health, to assist 
with patient engagement and in 
some cases – such as IAPT and 
employment support services – to 
deliver services. 

• Healthwatch Leeds
We are committed to involving our 
local communities and our patients 
in all that we do. One way we are 
doing this is by working closely with 
Healthwatch Leeds. Healthwatch 
Leeds is represented on the Leeds 
Health and Wellbeing Board, 
giving patients and communities 
a voice in decisions that affect 
them. Healthwatch Leeds will feed 
back any views and concerns to 
Healthwatch England so that issues 
of national significance can also be 
raised at a national level.

We work closely with Healthwatch 
Leeds through a number of fora to 
ensure that we benefit from their 
advice. In the past year the city has 
established a Patient Voices Group 
(PVG), made up of representatives 
from Healthwatch, the three CCGs 
and the various health and social 
care provider organisations in the 
city. The group meets monthly to 
discuss issues around patient input, 
including individual complaints and 
compliments and observed trends 
in terms of patient satisfaction. 

A member of the Healthwatch 
board also attends the Leeds North 
CCG Patient Assurance Group 
(PAG) and is able to feed in advice 
and comments in response to 
proposed engagement plans as 
they are presented to that group 
for assurance.

The advice and input from 
Healthwatch assists the CCG 
in tailoring effective patient 
engagement and involvement 
activity to inform our 
commissioning of services. 

• Leeds Health and  
Wellbeing Board
We have a seat on the Leeds Health 
and Wellbeing Board which has 
been established as a statutory 
committee of Leeds City Council. 
It has published a Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Leeds (2013 
– 2015). 

The overall vision is that Leeds 
will be a healthy and caring city 
for all ages, with a principle in all 
outcomes that people who are the 
poorest will improve their health 
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the fastest. There are Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in every area 
to make sure that services work 
together to respond to the needs 
and priorities of their communities. 

The Board involves people 
and community organisations, 
including elected representatives, in 
deciding what services the diverse 
communities we serve need – this 
will help CCGs in Leeds and Leeds 
City Council to commission (plan 
and fund) services that help us to 
deliver the joint Leeds Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.

Our Board has helped develop a 
joint health and wellbeing strategy 
for Leeds to ensure that people:

 •  Live longer and have  
healthier lives

 •  Live full, active and 
independent lives

 •  Experience a better  
quality of life

 •  Are involved in decisions  
made about them

 •  Will live in healthy and 
sustainable communities.

The priorities have been identified 
through a process called the 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA). The JSNA uses a range of 
information and local and national 
statistics to identify the current 
health and wellbeing needs of our 
communities and highlights health 
inequalities that can lead to some 
people dying prematurely in some 
parts of Leeds compared to other 
people in the city. 

• Leeds City Council
Leeds City Council commissions 
care and support services. It is also 
responsible for public health which 
seeks to protect and improve health 
and wellbeing. The council is using 
its knowledge of our communities 
to tackle public health challenges 
such as smoking, alcohol and drug 
misuse and obesity.

Leeds City Council works together 
with CCGs, health and care 
providers, community groups and 
other agencies, to prevent ill health 
by encouraging people to live 
healthier lives.

To strengthen the links between the 
CCG and the public health teams at 
Leeds City Council, a public health 
consultant sits on our Board. We 
also have a number of staff who 
are jointly employed by the local 
authority and ourselves.

• Leeds Institute for  
Quality Healthcare
Leeds North CCG is one of ten 
partner organisations working 
collaboratively through the Leeds 
Institute for Quality Healthcare 
(LIQH). Other partners are the health 
trusts and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups in Leeds, the City Council, 
the University of Leeds (Centre for 
Innovation in Health Management) 
and international partners 
Intermountain Healthcare and ENAP. 

This is a new way of partnership 
working, bringing together 
frontline staff from all ten partner 
organisations.

LIQH is focussed on a small number 
of clinical priorities that span 
primary and secondary care, where 
it can make a real difference to 
the experience of patients, service 
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users, carers and communities. By 
focusing on these key priorities, 
connecting current improvement 
work and developing new, LIQH 
generates and demonstrates a real 
benefit for patients, service users & 
carers with a significant increase in 
quality at better value.

Leeds North CCG, working with 
partners at the LIQH have identified 
the following clinical priorities: 
Cardiovascular Disease; Chronic 
Obstructive Pulmonary Disease; 
Fractured Neck of Femur; Cancer; 
Diabetes; Dementia; Urgent Care.

Having identified a small number 
of clinical priorities, LIQH then 
provides a place to learn and 
improve together across health and 
social care; primary and secondary 
care; clinicians and patients/service 
users; front-line and management.

The organisation does this through 
shared education to create a 
common understanding and 
approach; focusing on these few 
clinical priorities across the whole 
of healthcare; creating great data 
on which to base decisions and 
working together on the issues that 

make it difficult to give the best we 
can as a city-wide health economy.

An evaluation of the work of 
LIQH in its first year of operation 
(2014–15) can be found on 
the LIQH website http://www.
leedsqualityhealthcare.org.uk/ 

• The Leeds Integrated Care 
Prevention Programme
The Leeds Integrated Care 
Prevention Programme involves all 
our partners including GP practices, 
our partner CCGs, Leeds City 
Council social care services, Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds 
Community Healthcare NHS Trust, 
Leeds and York Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust and community 
and voluntary sector organisations 
from across the city. We also have 
strong arrangements in place to 
make sure we listen to and act on 
the views of patients, carers and 
the wider public.

Leeds’ work on integrating services 
has drawn interest nationally and 
as a result it was announced in 
October 2013 that the Department 
of Health has selected Leeds as 
one of only 14 sites to pioneer 

integrated care. This means for 
the past year we have benefited 
from additional support which will 
continue over the next four years to 
develop this integrated approach at 
an accelerated rate. 

• The Leeds Informatics Board
The Leeds Informatics Board 
supports all health and social care 
organisations to develop and 
implement an IT and information 
strategy to join up IT systems across 
the city, allowing for the safe and 
secure sharing of information 
necessary to support direct patient 
care. The work of the Leeds 
Informatics Board links into the 
wider integration of health and 
social care in the city. In the world 
of ever-increasing integrated care, 
it is essential that information 
follows the patient in order for 
them to obtain the best possible 
care. The Leeds Informatics Board 
is chaired by our Clinical Chair Dr 
Jason Broch and supported by 
Alastair Cartwright the Director of 
Informatics for the Leeds CCGs.
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3.11 Patient and Public Involvement

We work with patients and 
the public to ensure that 
the services we commission 
are tailored to the needs of 
the population of people in 
Leeds North in order to deliver 
against our health priorities. 

Our published Communications 
and Engagement Strategy describes 
the ways in which we aim to 
engage with communities, and our 
annual Statement of Involvement 
provides a detailed record of 
the ways in which the CCG has 
engaged and involved patients in its 
commissioning activity. 

The CCG’s Patient Assurance 
Group works to advise and offer 
assurance on the adequacy of the 
CCG’s engagement proposals for 
commissioned activity, providing a 
paper for each Public Board on its 
observations.

In addition, the CCG also operates 
a Practice Reference Group 
Network (PRGN), bringing together 
representatives from individual 
Practice Reference Groups from GP 
surgeries from across Leeds North 
six times a year to encourage the 
sharing of information and best 
practice across this network. 

The Community and Public 
Participation Group (CPPG) 
meanwhile operates as an open 
discussion forum, meeting six times 
each year to share information with 
the public and answer questions 
that people may have as well as 
learning from feedback. 

As well as the regular meetings 
of the CCG’s various patient 
participation groups, we also 
continue ongoing communication 
and public engagement activity 
throughout the year in order to 
share information about public 
health initiatives and planned 
engagement activity.

Some examples of patient and 
public involvement in the past  
year include:

• Urgent care review
We led a city-wide piece of 
public engagement and research 
to understand the experience 
of patients who had recently 
accessed urgent care services in 
the city. The engagement included 
online surveys promoted through 
partnership working with the 
Leeds Rhinos Foundation, focus 
groups and more targeted one 
to one interviews with individuals 
from seldom heard and vulnerable 
communities. Through our 
combined methods we have 
received information from nearly 
4,000 people in relation to urgent 
care services in the city, with this 
information being used to help 
inform our strategic review of 
services as we look to redesign a 
sustainable system for the future.
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• Antibiotic campaign 
We led on a citywide initiative 
to encourage people to only use 
antibiotics when needed and 
educate as to the use of antibiotics.

• Unused medicines
As part of our plans to run a 
local campaign to help reduce 
the number of unused medicines 
being stock piled in people’s 
homes, we carried out a survey to 
help understand why people had 
unwanted or unused medication 
and to what the CCG could do 
to help prevent it or dispose of it. 
While many patients knew they 
could take unwanted medicines to 
the community pharmacist, they 
said a labelled bag would help. This 
was provided in our campaign.

• Together we Can 
The Community Mental Health 
Services Programme Board was 
examining a snapshot of the 
current services, the referral routes 
that people are currently taking 
and how they may evolve over the 
coming years, particularly in relation 
to the introduction of individual 
social care and health budgets. To 
support this work, the Leeds North 
CCG commissioned Leeds Involving 
People to gather service user 
insight, with a focus on the support 
people get in the community 
after a secondary mental health 
intervention.

• Leeds Care Record
We have been leading the 
development of the Leeds Care 
Record, a new confidential 
computer record containing health 
and social care information from 
your GP, hospital, social care or 
other medical records. Three GP 
practices have been trialling the 
Leeds Care Record system and 
sharing information with Leeds 
Teaching Hospitals Trust. It is now 
being expanded to include all GP 
practices and then community 
health care services, mental 
health services and adult social 
care information into the Leeds 
Care Record.

Nigel Gray 
Accountable Officer

May 2015
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4. Annual Governance Statement
Governance Statement by the Chief Officer as the Accountable 
Officer of NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).

4.1 Introduction and Context

The CCG was licenced from 
1 April 2013 under provisions 
enacted in the Health & 
Social Care Act 2012, which 
amended the National Health 
Service Act 2006.

The CCG operated in shadow form 
prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the 
completion of the licencing process 
and the establishment of functions, 
systems and processes prior to the 
CCG taking on its full powers.

As at 1 April 2013, the CCG was 
licensed with conditions as follows;

•  CCG must have a clear and 
credible integrated plan 
that meets authorisation 
requirements.

The condition was subsequently 
removed on 22 July 2013 following 
review by NHS England.

NHS Leeds North CCG currently 
comprises 28 member practices 
across North Leeds. At the start of 
the financial year there were 29 
member practices, however two 
practices merged in January 2015.

NHS Leeds North CCG is unique 
in Leeds as it is formed around a 
Council of Members as its core 
decision-making body. The Council 
consists of representatives from 
each of its member GP practices. 
It meets formally every two months 
to enable practices to discuss and 
agree how to tackle health issues 
affecting their local patients and 
communities.

This union of GP practices ensures 
that participation is at the heart of 
everything NHS Leeds North CCG 
does. The member practices make 
sure that they are representing the 
best interests of their patients as 
well as the wider communities in 
which they are located.
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As Accountable Officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining 
a sound system of internal 
control that supports the 
achievement of the CCG’s 
policies, aims and objectives, 
whilst safeguarding the public 
funds and assets for which 
I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the 
responsibilities assigned 
to me in Managing Public 
Money. I also acknowledge 
my responsibilities as set out in 
my CCG Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter.

I am responsible for ensuring that 
the CCG is administered prudently 
and economically and that 
resources are applied efficiently and 
effectively, safeguarding financial 
propriety and regularity.

4.2 Scope of 
Responsibility

Whilst the detailed provisions 
of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code are 
not mandatory for public 
sector bodies, compliance 
is considered to be good 
practice. This Governance 
Statement is intended to 
demonstrate how, for the 
financial year ended 

31 March 2015, and up to the date 
of signing this statement, we have 
drawn upon best practice available, 
and had regard to those principles 
of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code that we consider to be 
relevant to the CCG.

4.3 Compliance with the UK 
Corporate Governance Code
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The National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended), at paragraph 
14L(2)(b) states:

The main function of the Board 
is to ensure that the group has 
made appropriate arrangements 
for ensuring that it complies with 
such generally accepted principles 
of good governance as are relevant 
to it.

NHS Leeds North Clinical 
Commissioning Group’s 
Constitution has been formally 
agreed by member practices and 
sets out our arrangements for 
discharging the CCG’s statutory 
responsibilities for commissioning 
care on behalf of our population.

Our constitution describes our 
governing principles, rules and 
procedures that ensure probity and 
accountability in the day to day 
running of our CCG, clarifying how 
decisions are made in an open and 
transparent way and in the interest 
of patients and the public. 

More specifically, our Constitution 
includes:

• Our membership 

• The geographical area we cover 

•  The arrangements for the 
discharge of our functions and 
those of our Board (including 
roles and responsibilities of 
members of the Board)

•  The procedures we follow in 
making decisions and to secure 
transparency in decision making

•  Arrangements for discharging our 
duties in relation to Registers of 
Interests and managing Conflicts 
of Interests.

•  Arrangements for securing the 
involvement of persons who 
are, or may be, provided with 
services commissioned by the 
CCG in certain aspects of those 
commissioning arrangements and 
the principles that underpin these.

Our Constitution is a living 
document which is updated 
to reflect changes in national 
guidance, our membership and 
composition. Any amendments are 
submitted in line with NHS England 
guidance, following consultation 
and approval by our Membership. 

In September 2014, the Council 
of members agreed amendments 
to the constitution to reflect 
changes in the internal and external 
environment. These changes were 
approved without comment by 
NHS England. In February 2015, the 
CCG agreed further amendments 
to its constitution to enable it to 
establish Joint Committees with 
NHS England and other CCGs. 
These amendments were approved 
by NHS England in April 2015.

4.4 The Clinical Commissioning Group Governance Framework
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Council of members

Board

Audit 
Committee

Governance, 
Performance &  
Risk Committee

Quality & Safety 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

The Council of Members
NHS Leeds North CCG is a membership organisation 
comprising GP member practices. All of the GP 
Practices across North Leeds are members the CCG 
Council. The Council of Members consists of two 
representatives from each practice, a clinical and a 
non- clinical/management representative, to ensure that 
the CCG reflects all GP practices in the area. Matters 
reserved for the Council include amendments to the 
constitution and approval of the CCG’s annual plan. 

The members attend bi-monthly meetings and 
represent the needs of their patients and the views of 
their GP practice. Council meetings consist of workshop 
sessions, at which members have the opportunity to 
discuss key issues affecting their localities and patients, 
and a formal meeting at which key decisions are 
made, for example the approval of changes to the 
constitution. A summary of Council proceedings is 
submitted to each meeting of the Board.

Our governance arrangements are 
described in more detail below.
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Council of  
Members’ 

Attendance 
at Meetings

Aireborough Family Practice 6

Allerton Medical Centre 6

Bramham Medical Centre 6

Chapeltown Family Surgery 6

Charles Street Surgery* 4

Chevin Medical Practice* 5

Church View Surgery 6

Crossley Street Surgery 6

Foundry Lane Surgery 6

Leeds Private Doctors 3

Meanwood Group Practice 5

Moorcroft Surgery 6

Newton Surgery 6

Council of  
Members’ 

Attendance 
at Meetings

North Leeds Medical Practice 6

Oakwood Surgery 6

Oakwood Lane Medical Practice 6

One Medicare (Hilton Road) 6

One Medicare (The Light) 6

Rutland Lodge Medical Centre 6

Shadwell Medical Centre 5

Spa Surgery 4

St Martin’s Practice 6

Street Lane Practice 6

The Avenue Surgery 6

The Surgery at Nursery Lane and Adel 6

Westfield Medical Centre 6

Westgate Surgery 6

Wetherby Surgery 6

Woodhouse Health Centre 6

Note: * Charles Street and Chevin practices merged in January 2015

The effectiveness of Council meetings in engaging with 
clinicians is demonstrated by the consistently high level 
of attendance of member practices. The Council met 
six times during 2014-15:
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The CCG Board
The Board has overall 
responsibility for risk management 
and has established several 
formal Committees to which 
it has delegated some of 
these responsibilities. These 
are described in the CCG’s 
constitution and consist of:

• Audit Committee

• Remuneration Committee

•  Governance, Performance  
& Risk Committee

• Quality & Safety Committee.

The work of each committee is 
directed by the functions delegated 
to it by the Board through their 
terms of reference. During 2014-
15, the terms of reference of the 
committees were amended, where 
appropriate, to reflect changes in 
the constitution. All changes to 
committee terms of reference have 
been approved by the CCG Board.

To improve information flows 
between the Board and its 
Committees and to strengthen 
the assurance process, a new 
summary reporting mechanism was 
introduced in 2014-15. The Chair 
of each Committee now prepares 
a summary report following each 
meeting and presents the report 
at the subsequent Board meeting. 
To ensure that the Board and 
its Committees are operating 
effectively, there is also now a 
formal ‘review of the meeting’  
item at the close of each meeting.

The Board has overall responsibility 
for ensuring that the CCG has 
appropriate arrangements in place 
to exercise its functions effectively, 
efficiently and economically and 
in accordance with the CCG’s 
principles of good governance; 

The Board met on twelve occasions 
in 2014-15 (seven times in public):

LNCCG Board  
Attendance

Year Ended 31 
March 2015

Name and Title Attendance

Dr Jason Broch  
Clinical Chair 

11

Nigel Gray – Chief Officer 11

Dr Simon Robinson  
GP Non-Executive Director 

7

Dr Nick Ibbotson 
GP Non-Executive Director

10

Peter Myers 
Lay Member – Governance

9

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member – Public  
& Patient Involvement

12

Martin Wright 
Chief Financial Officer

9

Dr Manjit Purewal  
Clinical Director

6

Ellie Monkhouse – Director 
of Nursing and Quality

 5

Liane Langdon 
Director of Commissioning 
& Strategic Development

11

Petra Morgan – Practice 
Manager Representative

7

Dr Mark Freeman  
Lay Member – Secondary 
Care Consultant

6

Lucy Jackson – Public  
Health Consultant Lead

9
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Throughout 2014-15, a number of 
Board workshops have reviewed 
the effectiveness of governance 
arrangements and explored 
development areas. Issues 
explored at the Board workshops 
have included:

•  The CCG’s Professional Standards 
Action Plan in response to the 
Francis Report

•  Annual Safeguarding reports for 
children and adults

•  Board compliance with Statutory 
and Mandatory Training

•  Board decision making and the 
constitution

•  The development of outcomes-
based accountability

Directors are appointed by the 
CCG through an open recruitment 
process with the exception of the 
Clinical Chair, Clinical Director, 
Practice Manager Representative 
and GP Non-Executives, who are 
elected onto the Board by the 
Council of Members for a period 

of 3 years. Elections for all of these 
posts were held in March 2015.

During 2014-15, the Board has 
worked with Bradford University 
on research into Leadership, 
Governance and Managerial 
Behaviour of CCGs. As part of the 
research, the Board completed 
a 360 degree feedback process 
which gave an in-depth insight 
into the effectiveness of the Board. 
The results have been fed into the 
Board development programme 
and the CCGs ‘High Performing 
CCG’ programme.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee critically 
reviews the CCG’s financial 
reporting and internal control 
principles and ensures that an 
appropriate relationship with both 
internal and external auditors 
is maintained. It approves a 
comprehensive system of internal 
control, including budgetary 
control that underpins the effective, 
efficient and economic operation of 
the CCG.

The Audit Committee is chaired by 
the Lay Member for Governance 
and consists of one other Lay 
Member and a GP Non-Executive 
Director. Each member of the 
Audit Committee is also a member 
of the Board. In attendance at 
each meeting is the CCG Chief 
Financial Officer together with 
representatives from internal audit 
and external audit.

The work of the Audit Committee 
has included ensuring there is an 
effective internal audit function 
and reviewing the work and 
findings of the external auditors. 
It has ensured that the CCG has 
adequate arrangements in place 
for countering fraud and has 
monitored the integrity of the 
CCG’s financial statements. It has 
placed particular emphasis on 
monitoring that actions in response 
to audit findings are implemented 
in a timely fashion. 
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The Committee carried out a self-assessment based on 
the Healthcare Financial Management Associations’ 
NHS Audit Committee Handbook. At its meeting in 
August 2014, the Committee reviewed the issues 
raised in the self-assessment and confirmed that plans 
were in place to address them satisfactorily. A further 
self- assessment is scheduled for May 2015.

The Audit Committee met on five occasions in  
2014-15.

CCG Audit Committee 
Attendance

Year Ended 31 
March 2015

Name and Title Attendance

Peter Myers Chair 
Lay Member – Governance 

4

Graham Prestwich 
Lay Member – PPI 

5

Dr Nick Ibbotson  
GP Non – Executive Director 

5

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee’s role is to advise 
and make recommendations to the Board about 
appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the 
Chief Officer and other senior managers/officers not 
on Agenda for Change national terms and conditions. 

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by the Lay 
member for Governance and consists of one other Lay 
Member, a Council of Members’ representative and 
the Clinical Chair. Each member of the Remuneration 
Committee is also a member of the Board.

The Remuneration Committee met twice in 2014-15.

CCG Remuneration  
Committee Attendance

Year Ended 31 
March 2015

Name and Title Attendance

Peter Myers  
Chair – Lay Member Governance 

2

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member for PPI 

2

Dr Simon Robinson  
GP Non-Executive Director 

2

Clinical Chair  
Dr Jason Broch

2
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Governance, Performance  
& Risk Committee
The Governance, Performance & Risk Committee 
(GPR), which is accountable to the Board, provides 
assurance to the Board that the CCG has effective 
systems of internal control in relation to risk 
management and performance and to ensure effective 
governance across all commissioned services.

The GPR Committee is chaired by the Chief Officer 
and consists of a Lay Member, Chief Financial Officer, 
Clinical Director, Director of Nursing and Quality and 
Director of Commissioning and Strategic Development. 

The work of the Committee has included monitoring 
the CCG’s risk management systems, including scrutiny 
of the Board Assurance Framework and oversight 
of the corporate risk register. The Committee has 
oversight of the development of all CCG policies and 
approves these on behalf of the Board. The Committee 
receives and scrutinises performance data covering 
NHS Constitution and local key performance indicators. 
The Committee has also led the development of 
new performance reporting mechanisms, including 
‘dashboards’ for commissioned services.

The GPR Committee met on seven occasions in  
2014-15. 

CCG Governance and Risk 
Committee Attendance

Year Ended 31 
March 2015

Name and Title Attendance

Nigel Gray  
Chair – Chief Officer 

4

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member PPI 

7

Martin Wright  
Chief Financial Officer 

7

Dr Manjit Purewal  
Clinical Director 

5

Ellie Monkhouse  
Director of Nursing and Quality

1

Liane Langdon  
Director of Commissioning  
and Strategic Development

5
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Quality and Safety Committee
The Quality and Safety Committee provides assurance 
to the Board that commissioned services are being 
delivered in a high quality and safe manner, ensuring 
that quality sits at the heart of everything the CCG 
does. It also ensures that the principles of quality 
assurance and governance are integral to performance 
monitoring arrangements for all CCG commissioned 
services and are embedded within consultation, service 
development and redesign and the evaluation and 
decommissioning of services.

The work of the Committee has included the 
approval of a new Quality Strategy and the 
development of comprehensive reports covering 
key quality metrics relating to the CCG’s providers, 
including Healthcare Acquired Infections, Family and 
Friends Test and Safer Staffing. 

The Committee has also taken a lead on the CCG’s 
response to the Francis report. It receives updates 
from cross-city provider quality management and 
assurance processes, and reports on children and 
adults safeguarding and serious healthcare incidents 
and complaints.

The Quality & Safety Committee met on six occasions 
in 2014-15.

CCG Quality & Safety  
Committee Attendance

Year Ended 31 
March 2015

Name and Title Attendance

Dr Manjit Purewal  
Clinical Director – Chair

6

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member PPI 

6

Ellie Monkhouse  
Director of Nursing and Quality 

2

Lucy Jackson  
Public Health Consultant Lead 

4

Dr Nick Ibbotson*  
GP Non-Executive Director 

3

Dr Simon Robinson* 
GP Non-Executive Director

2

Russell Hart-Davies  
City-wide Head of Quality 

4

Note: * GP non Execs alternate attendance
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Leeds Integrated 
Commissioning Executive
NHS Leeds North Clinical 
Commissioning Group has a joint 
committee with Leeds City Council 
and NHS England (in relation to its 
direct commissioning responsibilities), 
the Leeds Integrated Commissioning 
Executive (ICE). Leeds ICE has 
oversight of the joint health and 
social care commissioning agenda 
in the city and has responsibility 
for negotiating opportunities for 
integrated commissioning of Health 
and Social Care services in Leeds. 
Leeds ICE is the Executive arm of the 
Leeds Health & Wellbeing Board. 

Leeds CCG Network
NHS Leeds North Clinical 
Commissioning Group has entered 
into joint arrangements with 
NHS Leeds South & East Clinical 
Commissioning Group and NHS 
Leeds West Clinical Commissioning 
Group via the Leeds CCG Network. 
This is not a sub-committee of the 
Clinical Commissioning Group, 
but a cross-city working group.  
A documented Memorandum 
of Understanding is in place 
describing the joint commissioning 
arrangements within the Leeds 
health economy including the 
sharing of local commissioning 
strategies, the identification of 
commonalities and the delegation 
of contracting responsibilities.
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4.5 The Clinical Commissioning Group Risk Management Framework

By working closely together, 
the Directors and I lead the 
risk management process, 
to ensure an integrated and 
holistic approach to the CCG’s 
risk management activities.

The 2013-15 NHS Leeds 
North CCG Risk Management 
Strategy identifies the roles 
and responsibilities of directors, 
managers and staff in relation to 
the management of identified 
risk and was approved by the 
Governance, Performance & Risk 
Committee in October 2013. 
The strategy is currently under 
review and will remain operational 
until the updated strategy has 
been adopted.

The Risk Management Strategy 
provides a standard risk scoring 
matrix for risk owners to score the 
level of each risk. Risks are reviewed 
and updated on a regular cycle by 

risk owners prior to Committee 
and Board meetings. Responsible 
managers use various data streams 
to regularly assess the levels of risk 
they are managing and update 
the risk register to ensure that an 
accurate position is presented.

The CCG operates Datix, an 
internal web-based incident 
reporting system. All risks have an 
identified Executive Director as risk 
owner, and a responsible manager 
to ensure appropriate accountability 
for the management of the risk. 
The risk register system holds risks 
that are highlighted across the 3 
CCGs and also risks that are written 
locally. It is the combined city-wide 
and local risks that form the Leeds 
CCG North Risk Register. 

The CCG takes its responsibility for 
public involvement very seriously 
and is involved in a number of city-
wide and CCG specific consultation 
and engagement activities. 

The CCG’s Patient Assurance 
Group reviews the planning and 
implementation of effective and 
meaningful patient and public 
involvement. The Community 
and Patient Partnership Group 
provide input into specific pieces 
of work. The Patient Reference 
Group Network supports individual 
Practice Reference Groups. 
These groups give the public the 
opportunity to directly engage with 
the CCG on various work streams 
and raise risks they may identify. 
The CCG makes available a number 
of options for this to happen: via 
the website, on email or direct 
at specific public events. Major 
engagement activities during the 
year have included the strategic 
urgent care review.

The three levels of risk reporting 
in the organisation as described in 
the Risk Management Strategy are 
summarised below: 
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Board Assurance Framework 
(BAF) 2014-15 – The CCG Board 
owns and determines the content 
of its BAF. The Board identified 
potential strategic risks to delivery 
of its objectives and these have 
been monitored throughout 
the year. The BAF provides a 
structure and process to enable 
the organisation to focus on the 
risks that might compromise 
the achievement of its strategic 
objectives. It maps out the key 
controls to mitigate the risks and 
provides a mechanism to inform 
the Board of the assurances 
received about the effectiveness  
of these controls. 

The BAF provides an effective focus 
on strategic and reputational risk 
rather than operational issues, and 
highlights any gaps in controls and 
assurances. It provides the CCG 
Board with confidence that the 
systems and processes in place are 
operating in a way that is safe and 
effective. It is regularly reviewed 
by each Risk Owner to ensure the 
controls and assurances remain 
valid and any identified gaps are 
mitigated by timely implementation 
of clearly defined actions. 

Corporate Risk Register –  
The CCG Board/Executive Directors 
own the risks on the Corporate 
Risk Register. The corporate risks 
are the highest scoring operational 
risks. Each corporate risk has an 
accountable director and senior 
manager aligned to it. The risk 
may be a risk that is applicable 
across the city and the score will 
be considered by an Executive 
Director for acceptance onto the 
CCG Corporate Risk Register. Any 
operational risk with a current score 
of 15 (red) or above is classified as a 
corporate risk and will be escalated 
to Executive Directors, Executive 
Management Team, Board 
Committees and the Board. 

The Executive Management team 
take a big role in overseeing the 
active risks that are recorded 
on the CCG’s risk management 
system and regularly review risks to 
understand the nature of risks that 
have been highlighted by staff at all 
levels/scores.

Operational Risk Register – Across 
the three Leeds CCGs there is one 
system for recording risk, the Datix 
Risk Management system. New risks 
entered on Datix are reviewed and 
approved by management prior to 
the risk being accepted as an active 
risk by the CCG.

When new risks are entered onto 
Datix, they may be added as a 
city-wide risk or a locally owned 
North CCG risk. Any city-wide 
risks are shared across each of the 
CCGs and owned by an Executive 
Director in the Leeds North CCG. 
Any risk scoring red 15 (red) and 
above logged for a specific CCG 
will be shared with other colleague 
Leeds CCGs to ensure they have 
the opportunity to add to their own 
CCG risk register and are aware 
of the high scoring risks being 
managed by colleague CCGs.
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The Board Assurance Framework 
and the Corporate Risk Register 
are standing agenda items on 
the Board and Governance & 
Risk Committee agendas. This 
allows the CCG Board members 
to triangulate current identified 
risks with any other significant 
developments that may arise to 
ensure that any identified problems 
are appropriately recorded on 
the risk register. During 2014/15 
the Risk Management process 
has developed and the city-wide 
Governance Team has provided risk 
management training and support 
for CCG staff, with risk an agenda 
item for all team meetings. 

NHS Leeds North CCG is compliant 
with the Secretary of State’s 
Directions for counter fraud and 
the requirement for the provision 
for a Local Counter Fraud Specialist 
(LCFS). The activities undertaken 
by the LCFS during the year have 
been delivered to ensure that they 
are risk-based and in-line with 
the latest thought-leadership and 
emerging methodologies, including 
the Government’s National Fraud 
Strategy and Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) ‘Managing the Risk of 
Fraud’ document, which are 
considered best practice when 
countering fraud.
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4.6 The CCG Internal Control Framework

A system of internal control 
is the set of processes and 
procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its 
policies, aims and objectives. 
It is designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks, to evaluate 
the likelihood of those risks 
being realised and the impact 
should they be realised, and 
to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically.

The system of internal control 
allows risk to be managed to 
a reasonable level rather than 
eliminating all risk; it can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness.

Internal and external auditors have 
been appointed to provide the 
Board with independent assurance 
of its process of internal control and 
to assure itself of the validity of this 
Governance Statement.

Throughout the year a series of 
audits have been undertaken 
to review the effectiveness of 
governance systems. The reports 
from these audits are submitted to 
the Audit Committee. Audit reports 
generally contain recommendations 
for improvement and associated 
action plans. All actions are 
assigned to a senior manager with 
responsibility to complete within 
a designated timescale. Managers 
are held to account by the Audit 
Committee for the completion of 
all actions. 

The CCG also seeks assurance for 
functions it sub contracts to other 
service providers:

Yorkshire & Humber Commissioning 
Support Unit (CSU) provides the 
CCG with key services relating 
to Information Technology (IT), 
Business Intelligence, Information 
Governance and Human Resources. 
Ordinarily CCG’s derive assurance 
on the adequacy of the CSU’s 
internal control via a Service 
Auditor Report, delivered by 
Deloitte, however the report in 

2014-15 did not cover some 
key services purchased by the 
CCG. In order to gain additional 
assurance the CCG commissioned 
an independent review of the 
processes and governance 
arrangements in relation to IT 
and Business Intelligence services. 
The audit concluded that systems 
and procedures were generally 
satisfactory and the CCG can 
take significant assurance from 
this review.

Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS 
Trust provides payroll services to 
the CCG. The Trust has confirmed 
in its controls assurance letter 
that the service was recently 
subject to internal audit. The audit 
concluded that the payroll function, 
including pensions, was found to 
be operating within well-defined 
and effective control environment; 
payments were judged to be 
appropriate and bona fide; and 
full assurance could be given with 
regard to the operation of payroll 
processing controls.
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4.7 Information Governance

The NHS Information 
Governance (IG) Framework 
sets the processes and 
procedures by which the NHS 
handles information about 
patients and employees, in 
particular person identifiable 
information. The NHS 
Information Governance 
Framework is supported by an 
information governance toolkit 
and the annual submission 
process provides assurances 
to the clinical commissioning 
group, other organisations  
and to individuals that 
personal information is  
dealt with legally, securely, 
efficiently and effectively.

The CCG places high importance 
on ensuring there are robust 
information governance systems 
and processes in place to help 
protect patient and corporate 
information. The CCG takes 
its Information Governance 
responsibilities seriously, part of 

which involves data security. The 
CCG has reviewed and renewed 
all its IG policies this year and 
has provided the associated staff 
awareness. It has also reviewed 
the service specification with its 
IT supplier which has included 
additional assurances around data 
security. The CCG continues to use 
a specialist data centre to process 
any person identifiable data.

The CCG undertook an assessment 
of its IG arrangements through 
completion of the Information 
Governance Toolkit (IGT). This 
included a review of key factors 
via our internal auditors. The 
CCG reached the required level 
in all the requirements. The CCG 
continues be an Accredited Safe 
Haven (ASH). This means the CCG 
provides a safe environment for 
the processing of information 
containing NHS numbers. 

The CCG has a board-level officer 
responsible for information security 
and the associated management 
processes, and this role is known as 
the Senior Information Risk Owner 

(SIRO). The CCG has a board-level 
clinician responsible for ensuring 
that all flows of patient information 
are justified and secure, and this 
role is known as the Caldicott 
Guardian. Information Governance 
training is mandatory for all staff, to 
ensure that staff are aware of their 
information governance roles and 
responsibilities. Compliance remains 
above the required target level.

There is an Information Governance 
Committee which reports to the 
Governance, Performance & Risk 
Committee. These are formal 
meetings with associated minutes 
and action tracking. The CCG 
buys an expert IG practitioner and 
advisory service from the Yorkshire 
and Humber Commissioning 
Support Unit. Any breaches of 
security are managed within the 
CCG risk management policy 
and reported using the Datix risk 
management system.

During 2014-15 there were no 
incidents involving data loss or 
confidentiality breaches reported.
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The CCG recognises the need for a robust 
focus on the identification and management of 
risks and therefore places risk within an integral 
part of our overall approach to quality. 

As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility 
for risk management in the CCG. Risk is assessed 
in accordance with the CCG’s Risk Management 
Strategy. This requires managers to identify risks 
through established reporting streams and assess the 
likelihood and consequences of the risk occurring. This 
is completed using a measurement matrix included in 
the strategy. This ensures a consistent approach to risk 
assessment regardless of the individual performing it. 
The likelihood and consequence matrix reflects the 
organisation’s agreed risk levels and those at which 
escalation to senior managers and directors is required.

A recent internal audit assessed the adequacy of the 
CCG’s risk management arrangements in relation to 
its risk register. The report confirmed that our current 
processes, whilst in some areas would benefit from 
further enhancement, supported the CCG’s Annual 
Governance Statement.

The 2014-15 Leeds North CCG Corporate Risks  
as at 31st March 2015 are summarised below:

4.8 Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management & Internal Control

Risk ID Risk Title

432
Cancer under achievement of 62 day  
urgent GP referral to treatment

16

Risk ID Risk Title

499
Emergency Care Standard  
(previously on CRR score 16)

12

The CCG Board Assurance Framework (BAF) describes 
the CCG’s current principal risks to its licence and 
being able to fulfil its strategic objectives. Each BAF 
risk has an identified accountable Director and Board 
Sub-Committee for clarity of where the responsibility 
lies for managing and monitoring the risk. Executive 
Directors ensure that adequate control measures are 
identified against each element of risk and that the 
appropriate assurances are generated.

The 2014-15 Leeds North CCG Board Assurance 
Framework (BAF) describes the CCG’s principal risks as:
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Summary of 2014/15 NHS Leeds North CCG’s Board Assurance Framework

Risk Title Responsible Committee Assurances

1. Delivery of 2015/16 Plan Board

• NHS England Area Team (NHSAT) and Health & Wellbeing Board have approved the Clear and Credible Plan
• Milestone tracker signed off annually at Board 
• Appraisal process incorporating individual objectives in place for 2015/16
• 2 year operational plan and 5 year strategic plans submitted to NHSAT and Health & Wellbeing Board

12

2.  Delivery of economy-
wide strategy 

Transformation Board/
Members Council

• Delivery trackers discussed at Transformation Board
• Minutes of Health and Wellbeing and Transformation Boards
• Internal Audit reports
• MOU collaborative across the 3 CCGs
• Better Care Fund refreshed and in place to deliver 2015/16
• City-wide resources now in place – review of ongoing requirements to ensure delivery 2015/16

8

3.  Member Practices 
Engagement

Members  
Council

• Primary Care Framework presented to Council
• Workshop for all practices facilitated by Primary Care Commissioning and ongoing engagement with PCC
• Current incentive schemes
• Leeds North CCG refreshed constitution and ongoing review
• Council summary report forms part of feedback to Board
• Progress reported quarterly to Board
• Ongoing engagement plans and Executive team meetings with practices
• Engagement of practices in improvement 

5

4. Provider delivery Board

• Provider Management Groups minutes discussed at GPR 
• NTDA statement of Trust position at point of assessment diagnosis
• Performance reports to GPR Committee
• Internal Audit reports on contract and provider management 2014/15
• Outcomes from Transformation Board discussed at Executive Board

16

5.  Local Authority  
service changes Board

• Chief Officer provides an update of key issues from the Integrated Commissioning Executive to Executive & Board
• Health & Well Being Board and Scrutiny Committee sign off of Better Care Fund
• Health Needs Analysis in place
• Transformation Director reviewing financial analysis and impact of delivery effectiveness
• Quarterly Area Team submission and assurance reported to LNCCG Board via Chief Officer report

6

6.  High Quality  
services and care

Quality  
Committee

• Minutes of Quality Provider Management Groups and Quality Surveillance Group reported to Quality Committee
• Provider quality report presented to Governing Body bi-monthly highlighting key quality issues
• Patient experience survey monitored
• Post Francis Safer Staffing
• Quality Provider meetings- 6 monthly reports shared with Provider Boards

12

7. Finance Board EMT and  
Audit Committees

• Monthly finance report to Board including identification of current financial risks
• Prescribing finance position included in monthly finance updates
• Monthly budget reports are issued and discussed at budget holder meetings
• Budgetary control framework reviewed by Audit Committee November 2014
• Audit Committee review financial governance arrangements twice a year
• Lead Commissioner monthly forecast
• Quarterly assurance assessment by NHS England
• Internal & external audit reports reviewed by Audit Committee every meeting

9

8.  Changing Commissioning 
Landscape Board/Council

• Council minutes
• Executive papers
• Board minutes

16

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report

4.  Annual Governance Statement
4.1 Introduction and Context
4.2 Scope of responsibility
4.3  Compliance with the UK corporate 

Governance Code
4.4  The Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governance Framework
4.5  The Clinical Commissioning Group  

Risk Management Framework
4.6  The Clinical Commissioning Group 

Internal Control Framework
4.7  Information Governance
4.8  Risk Assessment in Relation to 

Governance, Risk Management  
and Internal Control

4.9  Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness and the use of resources

4.10  Review of the effectiveness of 
Governance, Risk Management  
and Internal Control

4.11  Business Critical models
4.12  Discharge of Statutory Functions
4.13  Conclusion

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



90 NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

The Board has overarching 
responsibility for ensuring 
that the CCG has appropriate 
arrangements in place 
to exercise its functions 
effectively, efficiently and 
economically and receives a 
comprehensive finance report 
from the Chief Financial 
Officer at each of its meetings.

The Audit Committee receives 
regular reports on financial 
governance, monitors the internal 
audit programme and reviews the 
draft and final annual accounts.

The CCG has a programme of 
internal audits that provides 
assurance to the Board and 
Executive Team of the effectiveness 
of its internal processes. The CCG’s 
annual accounts are reviewed by 
the Audit Committee and audited 
by our external auditors.

Following completion of the 
planned audit work, our external 
auditors issued an independent 
and objective opinion on the 
CCG’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency & effectiveness 
in the use of resources. 

The auditors concluded that the 
CCG has adequate arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in the use of 
resources.

4.9 Review of Economy, Efficiency & Effectiveness of the Use of Resources

As Accountable Officer I have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG.

4.10 Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, 
Risk Management & Internal Control

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report

4.  Annual Governance Statement
4.1 Introduction and Context
4.2 Scope of responsibility
4.3  Compliance with the UK corporate 

Governance Code
4.4  The Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governance Framework
4.5  The Clinical Commissioning Group  

Risk Management Framework
4.6  The Clinical Commissioning Group 

Internal Control Framework
4.7  Information Governance
4.8  Risk Assessment in Relation to 

Governance, Risk Management  
and Internal Control

4.9  Review of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness and the use of resources

4.10  Review of the effectiveness of 
Governance, Risk Management  
and Internal Control

4.11  Business Critical models
4.12  Discharge of Statutory Functions
4.13  Conclusion

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts



91NHS Leeds North CCG Annual 
Report and Accounts 2014 – 2015

Capacity to Handle Risk 
The CCG takes the management of 
risk seriously. The Board, Executive 
Directors, managers and staff work 
together to provide an integrated 
approach to the management of 
risk and in developing a culture of 
reporting risk. 

The CCG has appointed an 
Executive Director lead for risk 
management who reports to the 
Board on the risk management 
process. The Governance, 
Performance and Risk Committee 
has the primary responsibility 
for overseeing the development 
and implementation of risk 
management throughout the 

CCG, and seeks to ensure that 
the CCG learns from its processes 
and strengthens its governance 
accordingly. The Audit Committee 
reviews the establishment and 
maintenance of an effective system 
of integrated governance, risk 
management and internal controls 
across all the CCG’s activities.

The current CCG Risk Management 
Strategy 2013-15 is under review 
and will remain operational 
until the new strategy has been 
adopted. It outlines the leadership, 
responsibility and accountability 
arrangements at the CCG. These 
responsibilities are then taken 
forward through the Board 

Assurance Framework, the Risk 
Registers and Business Planning 
processes. This allows a coherent 
and effective delivery of risk 
management throughout the CCG. 

The Governance Team is responsible 
for a training programme across 
the organisation to provide staff 
with support on the writing of risks, 
the culture of risk reporting, and an 
understanding of why risk is a key 
element of internal control for the 
organisation. The team also works 
with directors, senior managers 
and staff, both individually and 
collectively, to discuss, advise 
and facilitate progress on the risk 
management strategy. 
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Review of Effectiveness 
My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control 
is informed by the work of the 
internal auditors and the executive 
managers and clinical leads within 
the CCG who have responsibility 
for the development and 
maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on 
performance information available 
to me. My review is also informed 
by comments made by the external 
auditors in their management letter 
and other reports.

The Board Assurance Framework 
provides me with evidence that 
the effectiveness of controls that 
manage the risks to the CCG in 
achieving its strategic objectives 
have been reviewed.

I have been advised on the 
implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by 
the Board, the Audit Committee, 

the Governance, Performance & 
Risk Committee and the Quality 
and Safety Committee. Plans to 
address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the 
system are in place.

The Board is responsible for 
leading and directing the CCG’s 
approach to risk management. It 
has delegated to the Governance, 
Performance and Risk Committee 
responsibility for overseeing risk 
management and to the Audit 
Committee responsibility for 
approving a comprehensive system 
of internal control, including 
budgetary control that underpins 
the effective, efficient and 
economic operation of the CCG.

The Governance, Performance and 
Risk Committee oversees the CCG’s 
arrangements for managing risk 
and ensuring sound governance. 
The Committee’s regular review of 
the Board Assurance Framework 
and Corporate Risk Register have 

been critical in ensuring that the 
CCG focuses on key risks and puts 
in place appropriate arrangements 
to manage them.

The Audit Committee provides an 
independent oversight of internal 
controls within the CCG, with a 
particular focus on financial risk 
management. It reviews all internal 
and external audits and provides 
a robust challenge to both CCG 
managers and audit actions. 
It undertakes an annual self-
assessment of its own performance.

The Quality and Safety Committee 
provides assurance to the Board 
that commissioned services are 
being delivered in a high quality and 
safe manner. During the year it has 
continued to sharpen its focus on 
key quality and safety issues and 
provide a robust challenge to ensure 
that patients receive safe and 
effective care and that they have a 
positive experience of services.
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My review was particularly 
informed by:

•  Quarterly Assurance reports to 
NHS England.

•  Regular performance reports 
to Governance, Performance 
and Risk Committee and quality 
reports to the Quality and Safety 
Committee.

•  Regular summary reports to the 
Board from each of the CCG’s 
formal committees and the 
Patient Assurance Group.

•  Regular finance and contracting 
reports to the Board.

•  Quarterly progress reports on the 
delivery of the CCG’s Clear and 
Credible Plan.

•  The results of the CCG’s 
staff survey.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
In accordance with Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards, internal 
audit services are required to 
provide an annual opinion 
on the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the organisation’s 
risk management, control and 
governance processes. 

The CCG has assigned both internal 
and external auditors to provide the 
Board with independent assurance 
of its process of internal control and 
to assure itself of the validity of this 
Governance Statement.

Throughout the year, a programme 
of audits have been undertaken 
to review the effectiveness of 
governance systems. The reports 
from these audits are submitted 
to the Audit Committee. All audit 
reports contain action plans of 
work required as a result of the 
review findings. All actions are 
assigned to a senior manager 

with responsibility to complete 
within the designated timescales. 
Managers are held to account 
by the Audit Committee for 
completion of all actions. 

Following completion of the 
planned audit work for the 
financial year, the Head of Internal 
Audit issued an independent and 
objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the clinical 
commissioning group’s system of 
risk management, governance 
and internal control. The Head of 
Internal Audit concluded that:

Based on the work undertaken 
in 2014-15, significant assurance 
can be given that there is a sound 
system of internal control which is 
designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are 
being consistently applied in all the 
areas reviewed.

Chris Williams 
Head of Internal Audit
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As at 31 March 2015 Internal Audit had issued ten 
final audit reports from its 2014-15 programme. 
Of these, nine provided substantial assurance that 
controls were suitably designed, consistently applied 
and effective. Internal Audit issued the following audit 
report with a conclusion of limited assurance.

•  Transformation Programme

This report found that the CCG needed to 
receive more assurance about how the city-
wide Transformation Board is progressing. 
Recommendations were split into those that are within 
the CCG’s remit to implement and those where the 
CCG can propose to the Transformation Board that the 
recommendation is considered. Recommendations for 
the CCG related to improving reporting mechanisms 
and clarity about the benefits to be derived from the 
urgent care workstream.

An action plan in response to the internal audit 
recommendations is in place.

The CCG has assessed its predictive business 
models along with the associated level of 
criticality. Examples are: Risk Stratification, 
Activity and Contract plans/forecasts and 
cash forecasts. Each business critical area 
has the required level of professional and 
management input. 

Data quality is monitored and there are service level 
agreements associated with the external provision 
of models such as Risk Stratification. Some external 
models such as ONS population forecasting are also 
classed as business critical, though not provided 
internally or via a service level agreement. The CCG 
has experience of robustly challenging the quality and 
accuracy of such external models.

4.11 Business Critical Models
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During establishment, the arrangements put 
in place by the CCG and explained within 
the Corporate Governance Framework were 
developed with extensive expert external legal 
input, to ensure compliance with all relevant 
legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
matters reserved for Membership Body and 
Board decision and the scheme of delegation.

In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed 
all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it 
by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 
and other associated legislative and regulations. As a 
result, I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the 
legislative requirements associated with each of the 
statutory functions for which it is responsible, including 
any restrictions on delegation of those functions.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been 
clearly allocated to a lead Director. Directorates have 
confirmed that their structures provide the necessary 
capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s 
statutory duties.

4.12 Discharge of Statutory Functions

NHS ACT 2006
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During 2014-15 the CCG has developed  
and strengthened its system of internal  
control. The Governance Framework is  
clearly articulated within our constitution, 
which has been refreshed to reflect changes  
in the internal and external environment.  
The Governance Framework is underpinned  
by our Information Governance Strategy and 
our Risk Management Strategy. Nine out of  
ten internal audit reports issued during the  
year provide substantial assurance that controls  
were suitably designed, consistently applied 
and effective. 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion states that the 
CCG can take “significant assurance” that there is a 
sound system of internal control which is designed to 
meet the CCG’s objectives, and that controls are being 
consistently applied.

I am therefore satisfied that the CCG operates effective 
and sound systems of internal control. 

4.13 Conclusion

Nigel Gray 
Accountable Officer

May 2015
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5. Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Committee is a formally 
appointed committee of the Board and its 
terms of reference comply with the Secretary 
of State’s Code of Conduct and Accountability 
for NHS Boards. Its role is to advise and 
make recommendations to the Board about 
appropriate remuneration and terms of 
service for the Chief Officer and other senior 
managers/officers not on Agenda for Change 
national terms and conditions.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by the Lay 
Member for Governance and consists of one other Lay 
Member, a Council of Members’ Representative and 
the Clinical Chair. Each member of the Remuneration 
Committee is also a member of the Board.

The Remuneration Committee met twice in 2014/15:

Remuneration  
Committee Members

Attendance 
(no. of 

meetings)

Peter Myers  
Lay Member for Governance (Chair)

2

Graham Prestwich  
Lay Member for PPI

2

Dr Simon Robinson  
GP Non-Executive Director

2

Dr Jason Broch  
Clinical Chair

2
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The CCG Head of Governance 
and Corporate Services supports 
the Chair of the committee in the 
management of the committee’s 
business and in drawing the 
committee’s attention to best 
practice and other relevant guidance.

Executive directors are appointed 
by the CCG through an open 
recruitment process with the 
exception of the Clinical Chair, 
Clinical Director and Practice 
Manager Representative, who 
are elected onto the Board by the 
Council of Members for a period 
of 3 years. Elections for these posts 
were held in March 2015.

The remuneration and terms 
of service for the Chair, Chief 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer, 
Clinical Director and Lay 
Members are recommended by 
the Remuneration Committee. 

In setting the remuneration of 
the Chief Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and Clinical Director, the 
CCG adheres to the guiding 
principles of the Hutton Review 
of Fair Pay. To determine the level 
of remuneration, both present 
and future, the Remuneration 
Committee takes into consideration 
national guidance issued by NHS 
England and benchmarking data 
from other CCGs.

The pay and conditions for other 
senior managers are determined 
nationally under the Agenda 
for Change initiative. All Senior 
Managers have been awarded 
standard contracts based on a 
model developed across West 
Yorkshire by the Commissioning 
Support Unit, with standard terms 
and conditions. Standard notice 
periods are currently 3 months. 

Current contracts do not contain 
any performance related elements 
which would impact on the 
remuneration packages. No 
individuals employed by the CCG 
have received or are due any kind of 
award or severance, compensation 
or early termination payment.

All Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors are subject to individual 
performance reviews. This involves 
setting and agreeing objectives on 
an annual basis.
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Board Member Service Contracts

Name Title Date of contract Tenure End Date Contract Type Notice Period

Dr Jason Broch
Clinical Chair 1st April 2013

3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Employee VSM 
Contract

3 months

GP Lead 1st April 2013
3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Contract for Service 
(3 way) 

3 months

Nigel Gray Chief Officer 18th January 2013 Permanent n/a
Employee VSM 
Contract

6 months

Ellie Monkhouse
Director of Nursing 
and Quality

3rd January 2013 Permanent n/a Employee AfC 12 weeks

Martin Wright Chief Finance Officer 18th January 2013 Permanent n/a
Employee VSM 
Contract

3 months

Liane Langdon
Director of 
Commissioning and 
Strategic Development

25th June 2013 Permanent n/a Employee AfC 12 weeks

Dr Manjit Purewal Clinical Director 1st April 2014
3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Employee VSM 
Contract

3 months

Peter Myers
Lay Member  
– Governance

1st April 2013 3 years
31st March 
2016

Contract for Service 
(Individual) 

3 months

Graham Prestwich Lay Member – PPI 1st April 2013 3 years
31st March 
2016

Contract for Service 
(Individual) 

3 months

Mark Freeman
Secondary Care 
Consultant

1st April 2013 3 years
31st March 
2016

Contract for Service 
(Individual) 

3 months

Dr Simon Robinson GP Non Exec Director 1st April 2013
3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Contract for Service 
(Individual) 

3 months

Dr Nick Ibbotson GP Non Exec Director 1st April 2013
3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Contract for Service 
(Individual) 

3 months

Petra Morgan
Practice Manager 
Executive

1st April 2013
3 years from  
12th June 2012*

11th June 
2015

Secondment 3 months

Lucy Jackson
Public Health 
Consultant Lead

1st April 2013 3 years
31st March 
2016

Honorary 
Contract

Not stated in 
the honorary 
contract

* Undertook the role in shadow form for the CCG from this date
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Salaries and Allowances 2014/15

Name and Title Salary (bands 
of £5,000)

Other 
Remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000)

Taxable 
Benefits 
(Rounded to 
the nearest 
£100)

Performance 
Pay and 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long Term 
performance 
pay and 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Total (Bands 
of £5,000)

All pension 
related 
benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500)

£000 £000 £00 £000s £000s £000s

Nigel Gray (Chief Officer) 120 – 125 - 3 - - 125 – 130 -

Martin Wright (Chief Financial Officer) 100 – 105 - 1 - - 100 – 105 -

Liane Langdon (Director of Commissioning & 
Strategic Development)

80 – 85 - 2 - - 80 – 85 40 – 42.5

Dr Manjit Purewal (GP and Clinical Director) 80 – 85 0 – 5 - - - 85 – 90 67.5 – 70

Ellie Monkhouse (Director of Nursing and Quality) 30 – 35 - - - - 30 – 35 5 – 7.5

Lucy Jackson (Public Health Consultant Lead) - - - - - - -

Petra Morgan (Management Executive) - 35 – 40 - - - 35 – 40 -

Non-Execs:

Dr Jason Broch (GP and Clinical Chair) 10 – 15 125 – 130 - - - 140 – 145 -

Dr Simon Robinson (GP Non-executive Director) 15 – 20 - - - - 15 – 20 -

Dr Nick Ibbotson (GP Non-executive Director) 15 – 20 - - - - 15 – 20 -

Graham Prestwich (Lay Member – Patient and Public 
Involvement)

10 – 15 0 – 5 - - - 15 – 20 -

Dr Mark Freeman (Secondary Care Consultant) 5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 -

Peter Myers (Lay Member – Governance) 10 – 15 - - - - 10 – 15 -

1. L Jackson is a Consultant in Public Health at Leeds City Council, who works for the CCG under a Memorandum Of Understanding. No remuneration is payable by the CCG.
2.  E Monkhouse works full-time in the role, which is a joint appointment, 50% funded by Leeds North CCG and 50% funded by NHS Leeds South and East Clinical   

Commissioning Group. (Total 14/15 Salary received is within the band £65 – 70k.)
3.  “Other Remuneration” for P Morgan and Dr J Broch relates to payments paid directly to their GP Practice employer to reimburse the practice for the costs of covering their 

absence whilst they are undertaking CCG roles.
4. “Other Remuneration” for Dr M Purewal relates to a Permenant Work Payment.
5. “Other Remuneration” for G Prestwich relates to a pass thorugh payment from NHS England via the CCG to G Prestwich for services provided to NHE England.
6. “All Pension Related Benefits” is the annual increase in pension entitlement determined in accordance with the “HMRC” method.
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Salaries and Allowances 2013/14

Name and Title Salary (bands 
of £5,000)

Other 
Remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000)

Taxable 
Benefits 
(Rounded to 
the nearest 
£00

Annual 
performance 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Long Term 
performance 
Related 
Bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)

Total (Bands 
of £5,000)

All pension 
related 
benefits 
(bands of 
£2,500)

£000 £000 £00 £000s £000s £000s

Nigel Gray (Chief Officer) 120 – 125 5 – 10 4 - - 125 – 130 185 – 187.5

Martin Wright (Chief Financial Officer) 100 – 105 0 – 5 2 - - 100 – 105 107.5 – 110

Liane Langdon (Director of Commissioning & 
Strategic Development)

50 – 55 - 1 - - 50 – 55 7.5 – 10

Dr Manjit Purewal (GP and Clinical Director) 10 – 15 105 – 110 - - - 115 – 120 152.5 – 155

Ellie Monkhouse (Director of Nursing and Quality) 30 – 35 - 1 - - 30 – 35 107.5 – 110

Lucy Jackson (Public Health Consultant Lead) - - - - - - -

Petra Morgan (Management Executive) - 35 – 40 - - - 35 – 40 -

Non-Execs:

Dr Jason Broch (GP and Clinical Chair) 10 – 15 125 – 130 - - - 140 – 145 -

Dr Simon Robinson (GP Non-executive Director) 5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 -

Dr Nick Ibbotson (GP Non-executive Director) 5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 -

Graham Prestwich (Lay Member – Patient and Public 
Involvement)

5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 -

Dr Mark Freeman (Secondary Care Consultant) 5 – 10 - - - - 5 – 10 -

Peter Myers (Lay Member – Governance) 10 – 15 - - - - 10 – 15 -
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Pension Benefits 2014/15

Name and title Real increase 
in pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at aged 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 
age 60 at  
31 March 
2015 (bands 
of £5,000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 
pension at  
31 March 
2015 (bands 
of £5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at  
31 March 
2014

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at  
31 March 
2015

Real increase 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
partnership 
pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00

Nigel Gray (Chief Officer) 0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 50 – 55 150 – 155 882 935 12 -

Martin Wright (Chief  
Financial Officer)

0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 30 – 35 90 – 95 542 581 10 -

Liane Langdon (Director of 
Commissioning & Strategic 
Development)

0 – 2.5 5 – 7.5 10 – 15 35 – 40 136 174 24 -

Dr Manjit Purewal (GP and Clinical 
Director) – part employed / part 
contract of service

2.5 – 5 7.5 – 10  10 – 15 35 – 40 144 197 47 -

Ellie Monkhouse (Director of 
Nursing and Quality) – shared  
with LSE CCG

0 – 2.5 2.5 – 5 10 – 15 40 – 45 175 199 10 -

1. Reimbursement for P Morgan is paid direct to her employer; Street Lane Practice under a contract of service. The CCG makes no direct pension contributions.  
2. Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members. 
3.  E Monkhouse works full-time in the role, which is a joint appointment, 50% funded by Leeds North CCG and 50% funded by NHS Leeds South and East Clinical 

Commissioning Group. (The disclosure here is the gross pension benefit received).

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the 
individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.
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Pension Benefits 2013/14

Name and title Real increase 
in pension 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Real increase 
in pension 
lump sum 
at aged 60 
(bands of 
£2,500)

Total accrued 
pension at 
age 60 at  
31 March 
2014 (bands 
of £5,000)

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 
pension at  
31 March 
2014 (bands 
of £5,000)

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at  
31 March 
2014

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at  
31 March 
2013

Real increase 
in Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value

Employer’s 
contribution 
to 
partnership 
pension

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £00

Nigel Gray (Chief Officer) 7.5 – 10 25 – 27.5 45 – 50 145 – 150 882 702 164 -

Martin Wright (Chief  
Financial Officer)

5 – 7.5 15 – 17.5 30 – 35 90 – 95 542 426 107 -

Liane Langdon (Director of 
Commissioning & Strategic 
Development)

0 – 2.5 0 – 2.5 10 – 15 30 – 35 136 121 10 -

Dr Manjit Purewal (GP and Clinical 
Director) – part employed / part 
contract of service

5 – 7.5 20 – 22.5 5 – 10 25 – 30 144 37 107 -

Ellie Monkhouse (Director of 
Nursing and Quality) – shared  
with LSE CCG

7.5 – 10 27.5 – 30 10 – 15  35 – 40 175 39 136 -
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Pay Multiples 2014-15 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the 
relationship between the remuneration of the highest-
paid director in their organisation and the median 
remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid Director/ 
Member of NHS Leeds North Clinical Commissioning 
Group in the financial year 2014-15 was £140-145k, 
(2013-14, £125-130k). This was 4.1 times, (2013-14, 
3.6 times) the median remuneration of the workforce, 
which was £34k, (2013-14, £35k).

In 2014-15 (and 2013-14) no employees received 
remuneration in excess of the highest paid member 
of the Board. Remuneration ranged from a band of 
£140k-£145k to £15k-£20k, (2013-14, £125k-£130k 
to £15k-£20k).

Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind. It does 
not include severance payments, employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value 
of pensions.

Director –  
Highest paid ratio 2014/15 2013/14

Band of highest 
paid directors total 
remuneration (£000’s)

140 – 145 125 – 130

Median total 
remuneration (£000’s)

34 35

Ratio 4.1 3.6

In 2014-15 there has been a change in the most highly 
paid individual which has led to an increase in the 
band of the highest paid director’s total remuneration. 
This has occurred due to an individual in 2014-15 now 
being paid via payroll rather than on a self-employed 
basis. The individual receiving the highest salary 
is a part time employee. The highest paid salary is 
calculated by grossing up their part time salary to  
full time equivalent.
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Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2015, for more than  
£220 per day and that last longer than six months are as follows:

2014/15 
Number

2013/14 
Number

Number of existing engagements  
as of 31 March 2015

6 1

Of which, the number that  
have existed:

  

•  For less than one year at the time  
of reporting

6 1

•  For between one and two years  
at the time of reporting

- -

•  For between two and three years  
at the time of reporting

- -

•  For between three and four years  
at the time of reporting

- -

•  For four or more years at the time  
of reporting

- -

All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, 
have at some point been subject to a risk based 
assessment as to whether assurance is required that 
the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, 
where necessary, that assurance has been sought.

2014/15 
Number

2013/14 
Number

Number of new engagements, or those 
that reached six months in duration, 
between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015

6 1

Number of new engagements which 
include contractual clauses giving Leeds 
North Clinical Commissioning Group 
the right to request assurance in relation 
to Income Tax and National Insurance 
obligations

  

Number for whom assurance  
has been requested

6 1

Of which, the number:

•  For whom assurance has been received 6 1

•  For whom assurance has  
not been received

- -

•  That have been terminated as a result  
of assurance not being received

- -

Number of off-payroll engagements  
of Membership Body and/or Governing  
Body members, and/or, senior officials  
with significant financial responsibility, 
during the financial year

- -

Number of individuals that have  
been deemed “Membership Body and/
or Governing Body members, and/or, 
senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility”, during the financial year 
(this figure includes both off-payroll and on-
payroll engagements)

- -
Nigel Gray 
Accountable Officer

May 2015
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6. Annual Accounts
The accounts for the year 
ending 31 March 2015 have 
been prepared as directed by 
NHS England in accordance 
with section 232 (Schedule  
15, Paragraph 3) of the 
National Health Service  
Act 2006. 

The directions issued by 
NHS England require clinical 
commissioning groups to comply 
with the requirements laid out in 
the Manual for Accounts issued by 
the Department of Health.

The Manual for Accounts complies 
with the requirements of the 
Government Financial Reporting 
Manual, which the Department 
of Health Group Accounts are 
required to comply with.

6.1 Finance Director’s Review

During the 2014-2015 financial 
year NHS Leeds North CCG 
has achieved all statutory and 
administrative financial duties. 
Operational costs were contained 
within the target set by the 
Department of Health (revenue 
resource limit) of £248.3m 
delivering a surplus of £5.95m. 
Total cash spend was kept below 
the maximum cash drawdown 
of £241.7m.

The CCG received an additional 
£4.8m growth (2.14%) in 2014-
2015 and started the financial 
year forecasting a £5.1m surplus 
in the financial plan presented 
to the Board in March 2014. The 
surplus increased to £5.95m in 
the last quarter of the year mainly 
due to the return of some of the 
CCG’s contribution to the national 
continuing health care risk pool.

Investment and resource focussed 
on priorities which would have 
the greatest impact on the health 
and wellbeing of the population 
of North Leeds. £9m was invested 
within transformation programmes 
and winter resilience of which 
over £2m was spent locally 
within primary care. This included 
admission avoidance schemes 
and social prescribing. Citywide 
transformation investment included 
pump priming of out of hospital 
care in conjunction with integrated 
health and social care. 

The running costs for the CCG 
remained within target at less than 
2% of total spend and will reduce 
by a further 10% in 2015-16.

Quality, innovation, productivity 
and prevention (QIPP) savings and 
cost avoidance schemes were 
identified and delivered £11.6m of 
savings. £7.1m related to the 4% 
national efficiency requirement 
built into provider contracts and the 
remaining £4.5m was generated via 
CCG schemes.
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NHS Leeds North CCG – Expenditure 2014-2015

5%

50%

13%

12%

14%

2%
4%

• Acute Commissioning

• Mental Health

• Community Health

•  Primary care and 
Prescribing

• Running Costs

• Transformation fund

•  Continuing  
Health Care
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Further details of financial 
performance is shown in the annual 
accounts for the financial year 
ending 31 March 2015.

Performance against the 
Confederation of British Industry 
(CBI) Better Payment Practice Code 
is given in note 6.1 to the accounts.

Details of the treatment of pension 
liabilities is given in Note 4.4 to 
the accounts. There were no exit 
packages or severance payments 
agreed in 2014-15.

The Board is responsible for 
maintaining an effective system 
of internal control that supports 
the achievement of our objectives. 
The annual governance statement 
which records the stewardship of 
the organisation is contained within 
the annual accounts.

The annual accounts have been 
subject to audit by KPMG, 1 The 
Embankment, Neville Street, Leeds, 
LS1 4DW and an unqualified 
audit opinion received. Details of 
the audit fees in respect of the 
statutory audit and associated 

services can be found in note 5 to 
the accounts. Internal audit services 
were provided by Baker Tilly. 
The CCG also has an established 
counter fraud service provided by 
Baker Tilly, with a dedicated local 
counter fraud specialist and took 
part in the national fraud initiative.

2015-16 financial plans for the 
CCG have been developed to 
deliver the requirements of the 
planning guidance “The Forward 
View into Action: Planning for 
2015-16”. Plans demonstrate 
achievement of 2% in year surplus 
(against a requirement of the higher 
of 1% or 14-15's brought forward 
surplus), 1% recurrent headroom 
to be spent non recurrently and a 
0.5% contingency as required. The 
CCG will ensure that investment 
within Mental Health services and 
consequent spending is in line with 
the Mental Health Parity of Esteem 
requirements.

The CCG will receive the 2014-15 
brought forward surplus of £5.95m 
which will be earmarked to deliver 

the in year 2% surplus for 2015-16; 
thereby providing a buffer against 
uncertainties regarding the impact 
of the new allocation formula and 
future years of austerity.

Commissioning intentions assume 
delivery of key national targets 
& the local priorities informed 
by local health data analysis and 
determined in consultation with 
clinicians & the public.

NHS England recently 
announced details of the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups approved 
to take on greater delegated 
responsibility or to jointly 
commission GP services from 1st 
April 2015.  The new primary care 
co-commissioning arrangements 
are part of a series of changes set 
out in the NHS Five Year Forward 
View to deliver a new deal for 
primary care and another step 
towards plans set out by NHS 
England early last year to give 
patients, communities and clinicians 
more involvement in deciding local 
health services.
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6.2 Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

The National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended) 
states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall 
have an Accountable Officer 
and that officer shall be 
appointed by NHS England. 
NHS England has appointed 
the Chief Officer to be the 
Accountable Officer of 
the CCG.

The responsibilities of the 
Accountable Officer, including 
responsibilities for the propriety and 
regularity of the public finances 
for which the Accountable Officer 
is answerable, for keeping proper 
accounting records (which disclose 
with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the 
CCG and enable them to ensure 
that the accounts comply with 
the requirements of the Accounts 
Direction) and for safeguarding 
the CCG’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud 

and other irregularities), are set out 
in the CCG Accountable Officer 
appointment letter.

Under the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended), NHS 
England has directed each CCG 
to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and 
on the basis set out in the Accounts 
Direction. The financial statements 
are prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the CCG and 
of its net expenditure, changed in 
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for 
the financial year.

In preparing the financial 
statements, the Accountable Officer 
is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Manual for 
Accounts issued by the Department 
of Health and, in particular, to:

•  Observe the Accounts Direction 
issued by NHS England, including 
the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, and apply 
suitable accounting policies on a 
consistent basis;

•  Make judgements and estimates 
on a reasonable basis;

•  State whether applicable 
accounting standards as set out in 
the Manual for Accounts issued 
by the Department of Health have 
been followed, and disclose and 
explain any material departures in 
the financial statements; and

•  Prepare the financial statements 
on a going concern basis.

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer appointment letter.

Nigel Gray 
Accountable Officer

May 2015
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6.3 Audit Report and Opinion

ABCD

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF LEEDS NORTH CLINICAL 
COMMISSIONING GROUP

We have audited the financial statements of Leeds North Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
comprising the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, 
Statement of Changes in Taxpayers Equity, Statement of Cash Flows and related notes for the 
year ended 31 March 2015. These financial statements have been prepared under applicable 
law and the accounting polices directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of 
the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England. We have also 
audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit.

This report is made solely to the Members of Leeds North CCG, as a body, in accordance with 
Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Members of the CCG, as a body, those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we 
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Members of the CCG, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the 
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true 
and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an opinion on, the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by the Accountable Officer, and the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify 
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information 
that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge 
acquired by us in the course of performing the audit.  If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.  

Opinion on regularity

In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2015 and
of its net operating costs for the year then ended; and
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• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting polices directed by the 
NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to 
the National Health Service in England.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for local NHS 
bodies

In our opinion:

• the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the accounting polices directed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
with the consent of the Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in 
England; and

• the information given in the Strategic Report and Members’ Report for the financial year 
for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Code of Audit Practice 
2010 for local NHS bodies requires us to report to you if:

• in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with NHS 
England’s Guidance;

• any referrals to the Secretary of State have been made under section 19 of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998; or

• any matters have been reported in the public interest under the Audit Commission Act 
1998 in the course of, or at the end of the audit.

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources

Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor

The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and 
to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that 
the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice 2010 for local NHS bodies issued by the Audit 
Commission requires us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having 
regard to relevant criteria specified by the Audit Commission.  

We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding 
that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, 
whether all aspects of the CCGs arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.

Contents

1. Chair & Chief Officer’s Foreword

2. Strategic Report

3. Members Report

4. Annual Governance Statement

5. Remuneration Report

6. Annual Accounts
6.1 Finance Director’s Review
6.2  Statement of Accountable  

Officers Responsibilities
6.3 Audit Report and Opinion
6.4  Primary Statements and  

Notes to the Accounts



112

ABCD

Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of resources 

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for local 
NHS bodies, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit 
Commission in October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for:

• securing financial resilience; and

• challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Audit Commission has determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider 
under the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for local NHS bodies in satisfying ourselves whether the 
CCG put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2015.

We planned and performed our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice 2010 for 
local NHS bodies. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered 
necessary to form a view on whether, in all material respects, the CCG had put in place proper 
arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Conclusion

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published by 
the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all material respects, Leeds 
North CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2015.

Certificate

We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Leeds North CCG in accordance 
with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice 2010 
for local NHS bodies issued by the Audit Commission.

                                                                                                                
Rashpal Khangura
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      
1 The Embankment
Neville Street
Leeds
LS1 4DW

27 May 2015            
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6.4 Primary Statements and Note to the Accounts
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If you would like a copy of this publication  
in large print, Braille, audio or in another 
language, please e-mail leedsnorthccg@nhs.net 
or call us on 0113 843 2900

NHS Leeds North CCG 
Leafield House 
107 – 109 King Lane 
Leeds 
LS17 5BP 

Tel: 0113 843 2900

www.leedsnorthccg.nhs.uk

www.facebook.com/nhsleedsnorthccg

@NHSLeedsNorth


